
CITY OF MISSION VIEJO

PLANNING AND TRANSPORTATION
COMMISSION MEETING

February 10, 2020

A G E N D A

Mission Viejo City Hall, 200 Civic Center
City Council Chamber

CALL TO ORDER 6:30 PM

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: Led by Commissioner Leckness

ROLL CALL: Commissioner Blum
Commissioner Knauerhaze
Commissioner Leckness
Vice Chairman Ruesch
Chairman Breton

PUBLIC COMMENT PROCEDURE
Any person wishing to address the Commission on any matter, either under the Public Comments 
section of the Agenda or scheduled items or public hearings, must fill out a “Request to Speak” form 
available at the door. The completed form must be submitted to the Secretary prior to the Agenda 
item being called by the Chairperson.  In speaking to the Commission, members of the public shall be 
limited to three minutes per person, except for the applicant for entitlement.  The Commission may 
establish an overall time limit for comments on a particular Agenda Item.  Members of the public 
must direct their questions to the Chairperson of the Commission and not to other members of the 
Commission, the applicant, the Staff, or the audience.

PUBLIC COMMENTS – NON AGENDA MATTERS AND AGENDA MATTERS OTHER 
THAN PUBLIC HEARINGS
This is the time for members of the public to address the Commission on matters, which are on the 
Commission’s consent calendar or on matters, which do not appear on the Commission’s Agenda.  
Under state law, no action can be taken on comments from the public if the matter is not on the 
Commission’s Agenda unless the Commission makes a determination that (1) an emergency exists or 
(2) that the need to take action arose after the posting of the Agenda and that action must be taken 
before the next regular meeting of the Commission.  There shall be an overall time limit of 15 minutes 
for the Public Comments portion of the Agenda unless the Commission makes a decision to extend the 
time period.



Planning and Transportation Commission Agenda                                               Page 2

CONSENT CALENDAR

1 January 10, 2020, Minutes

Procedure:
Recommended Action: Approve Minutes.

2 Status Report Planning and Transportation Commission Matters

Procedure:
Recommended Action: Receive and file report.

PUBLIC HEARINGS

3 Conditional Use Permit CUP2019-409, being a petition submitted by Gabriel Ruiz to 
permit a State Department of Alcoholic Beverage Control (ABC) Type 41 beer and 
wine license, for on-site consumption in conjunction with food service at a new 
restaurant, Wurshaus, located within Silverado Plaza at 25522 Jeronimo Road, in the 
CN (Commercial Neighborhood) zone.   SP2019-462 is requested to allow an outdoor 
seating area, where alcoholic beverage service is also proposed.

Procedure: Staff report; public hearing; discussion and determination.
Recommended Action: Adopt Resolution approving CUP2019-409.

4 Conditional Use Permit CUP2019-406, being a petition submitted by Feiyan You to 
permit operation of a new 1,400-square-foot massage establishment located in the 
Alicia Trabuco shopping center, at 26821 Trabuco Road, Suite C, in the CN 
(Commercial Neighborhood) zone.

Procedure: Staff report; public hearing; discussion and determination.
Recommended Action: Adopt Resolution approving CUP2019-406.

5 Planned Development Permit PDP2019-311, being a petition submitted by Pramira 
Inc., agent for AT&T, to construct a new “small-cell” wireless telecommunication 
monopole facility located within the public right-of-way along Marguerite Parkway, 
adjacent to the U.S. Post Office at 28081 Marguerite Parkway, between Shops 
Boulevard to the north and College Center to the south.  Equipment installed on the 
new 33’-5”-tall steel pole would include four remote radio units, one omni-directional 
antenna, and one raycap disconnect, all located at the top of the pole within an 
equipment shroud.

Procedure: Staff report; public hearing; discussion and determination.
Recommended Action: Adopt Resolution approving PDP2019-311.

6 Planned Development Permit PDP2019-312, being a petition submitted by Pramira 
Inc., agent for AT&T, to construct a new “small-cell” wireless telecommunication 



Planning and Transportation Commission Agenda                                               Page 3

monopole facility located within the public right-of-way along Marguerite Parkway, 
north of Avery Parkway, adjacent to the Burlington store at 28452 Marguerite 
Parkway and Conroy’s Flowers at 28442 Marguerite Parkway.  Equipment installed 
on the new 33’-5”-tall steel pole would include four remote radio units, one omni-
directional antenna, and one raycap disconnect, all located at the top of the pole within 
an equipment shroud.

Procedure: Staff report; public hearing; discussion and determination.
Recommended Action: Adopt Resolution approving PDP2019-312.

COMMITTEE REPORTS 

COMMITTEE COMMISSIONERS  SCHEDULED MEETING(S)
Traffic Knauerhaze, Leckness No meeting held.
Design Review Blum, Ruesch January 29, 2020 and February 4, 2020

STAFF COMMENTS

PLANNING AND TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION COMMENTS

ADJOURNMENT
Adjourn to March 9, 2020, at 6:30 PM for regular Planning and Transportation Commission 
meeting.



Planning and Transportation Commission Agenda                                               Page 4

PLANNING AND TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION

The Mission Viejo Planning and Transportation Commission consist of five residents of the City who are appointed by Mission 
Viejo City Council members.  The Mission Viejo Planning and Transportation Commission meets regularly on the second Monday 
of each month in the Council Chamber located at 200 Civic Center, Mission Viejo.  Meetings begin at 6:30 p.m.

Each city in California must adopt a comprehensive, long-term general plan for the physical development of the city.  Mission 
Viejo's long range planning goals and master strategy are embodied in its General Plan. The Planning and Transportation 
Commission advises the City Council regarding amendments to that Plan.  The policies, goals and objectives of the General Plan 
are implemented through the City's development standards.

The Planning and Transportation Commission has the authority to approve or deny applications for development within the City.  
Types of applications included are: tentative tract maps, tentative parcel maps, planned development permits, conditional use 
permits, architectural review, variances, and sign programs.  The Planning and Transportation Commission makes recommendations 
to the City Council on all applications for changes in the Development Code and Zoning Map.  The Commission also acts in 
advisory capacity to the City Council on all traffic matters relating to: receiving complaints on traffic matters; surveying, reviewing, 
and making recommendations relative to traffic conditions, improvement of traffic conditions, and the administration and 
enforcement of traffic regulations; surveying, reviewing, and recommending plans for improved parking; and surveying, reviewing, 
and recommending safety programs, campaigns, and activities to educate the public in traffic safety.

AGENDA
The Planning and Transportation Commission provides an agenda for each of its meetings identifying the items to be considered.  
Prior to consideration of the listed agenda items, the Commission allows oral communications for the public to address the 
Commission on items NOT listed on the agenda.  Time is limited to three minutes per person.  The items on the agenda are arranged 
into three categories, depending upon the type of case: Consent Calendar Items: These are relatively minor in nature, do not have 
significant issues or concerns, and do not require a public hearing.  All consent calendar items are considered by the Commission 
as one item and a single vote is taken for their approval, unless an item is removed from the consent calendar for individual 
discussion.  Public Hearings: This category is for applications that require by law a hearing open to public comment because of the 
discretionary nature of the request.  Public hearings are formally conducted and have a specific time where public testimony is 
requested.  This is your opportunity to speak on the item(s) that concern you.  New/Old Business: Items in this category are general 
in nature for the Commission's discussion.  At 10:00 p.m. the Commission will review the remaining agenda items and make a 
decision regarding the items to be considered before the 11:00 p.m. curfew and the items to be continued until the next meeting.  
By a majority vote, the Commission may extend the meeting beyond that hour. 

PUBLIC INPUT
If you are interested in addressing the Planning and Transportation Commission on any item, please fill out your full name and 
address (address optional) on a form provided at the speaker's table.  Submit the completed form to the secretary at the front of the 
chambers.  The chairman will recognize you to speak when the item is considered.  When you speak to the Commission, state your 
full name and address for the record.  Members of the public must direct their questions to the chairman and not to other members 
of the Commission, the staff, or the audience.

STAFF AND STAFF  REPORTS
The Planning staff, which is situated on the Commission's left, is responsible for reviewing applications submitted for conformance 
with City's planning and zoning standards and for providing a report with findings and recommendation.  The Planning and 
Transportation Commission uses the staff reports as informational documents when reviewing development proposals or other 
agenda items.  Any supplemental writings or documents distributed to a majority of the Planning and Transportation Commission 
regarding any item on this Agenda, after the posting of the Agenda, will be available for public review in the Community 
Development Department located at 200 Civic Center , Mission Viejo, California, during normal business hours.  In addition, such 
writings or documents will be made available on the City’s web site at www.cityofmissionviejo.org and will be available for public 
review at the respective meeting.  If you have any questions regarding any item of business on the Agenda for this meeting, please 
contact the Community Development Department at (949) 470-3053 or by email at cd@cityofmissionviejo.org.

APPEALS
Any interested person may appeal a decision of the Planning and Transportation Commission regarding the action taken on a 
discretionary planning application. Appeals must be in writing, must state the reasons for the appeal, must be accompanied by the 
appeal fee ($1,500 for action on a single family dwelling, $2,000 for all others), and must be submitted to the City Clerk within 15 
calendar days of the Commission's action for discretionary planning matters other than the subdivision of land; the appeal period 
for the subdivision of land is 10 days.  For additional information please call (949) 470-3053.

http://cityofmissionviejo.org/
mailto:cd@cityofmissionviejo.org


Planning and Transportation Commission Agenda                                               Page 5

AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT (ADA) ACCOMMODATIONS
In accordance with the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, if you require a disability related modification or accommodation 
to attend  or participate in this meeting, including auxiliary aids or services, please call the Community Development Department  
at (949) 470-3053 (voice) or the California Relay Service at least 48 hours prior to the meeting.  If you have special accessibility 
needs, please notify the Community Development Department as soon as possible before the meeting so that reasonable 
arrangements for accessibility can be made.



City of Mission Viejo
Minutes of the Planning and Transportation         

Commission

January 13, 2020

CALL TO ORDER
The Regular Meeting of the Planning and Transportation Commission of the City of Mission Viejo 
was called to order by Chairman Blum at 6:30 p.m., January 13, 2019, at 200 Civic Center, Mission 
Viejo, California.  

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
 
ROLL CALL:

Commissioners present: Commissioner Knauerhaze, Commissioner Leckness, 
Commissioner Ruesch, Vice Chairman Breton, and Chairman 
Blum. 

Staff present: Elaine Lister, Community Development Director; William P. 
Curley III, City Attorney; Larry Longenecker, Planning Manager; 
Mark Chagnon, Public Works Director; Sarah McMillan, Planning 
Technician; and Angela Hannis, Administrative Assistant.

PUBLIC COMMENTS
None.

CONSENT CALENDAR 
On motion by Commissioner Ruesch, seconded by Commissioner Knauerhaze, and unanimously 
carried, the Commission approved the DECEMBER 9, 2019 MINUTES.

Vice Chairman Breton discussed Item B, Page 6, of the Status Report regarding the La Paz Road 
Widening Project.  Due to Caltrans delays in the project, he inquired if the funding would be 
extended to include 2019-2020.   Director Lister stated he could address this question  to Director 
Chagnon later in the meeting, or she could inquire on Tuesday and respond back to the 
Commission.

On motion by Vice Chairman Breton, seconded by Chairman Blum, and unanimously carried, the 
Commission received and filed the STATUS REPORT PLANNING AND TRANSPORTATION 
COMMISSION MATTERS.

Page 1 of 6Item# 1



Planning and Transportation Commission Minutes
January 13, 2020
Page 2

PUBLIC HEARINGS
CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT CUP2019-407
Conditional Use Permit CUP2019-407, being a petition submitted by Recap "Reggie" Koch to 
permit a State Department of Alcoholic Beverage Control (ABC) Type 41 beer and wine license, 
for on-site consumption in conjunction with food service at an existing restaurant, Epic Wings, 
located within Avery Center at 28621 Marguerite Parkway, Suite B6, in the CH zone.

Planning Technician McMillan presented the staff report and power point presentation.  Epic 
Wings, a fast- casual wings restaurant opened in February 2018.  The hours of operation are 10:30 
a.m. to 9:30 p.m. Sunday through Thursday, and 10:30 a.m. to 9:30 p.m. Friday and Saturday.  
The restaurant services approximately 30 guests at one time.  As part of the hiring process, the 
management staff will complete the Licensee Education on Alcohol and Drugs certification 
(LEAD) program.  According to the Alcohol Beverage Control there is an over-concentration of 
on-sale licenses within this census tract.  Staff does not think the project will result in detrimental 
conditions to the public because of the size of the census tract, the distance between food 
establishments in the area, and the fact that Epic Wings is not located within 100 feet of a 
residence or school.  

City Attorney Curley clarified for the Commission that Alcohol Beverage Control uses a formula 
to calculate if the ABC licenses in a census tract are over-concentrated.  Successful commercial 
venues serve alcohol with meals.  Over-concentration is not necessarily viewed as a negative; it 
can be an indication of a successful business area.  ABC provides a threshold, and then the local 
jurisdictions determine if the license is allowed.  

Director Lister noted that staff will call ABC to get a better understanding of how their formula 
is determined.    

Chairman Blum opened the public hearing.

Al Hoguin, spoke in favor of the project adding offering beer and wine will bring more business 
to this establishment.

Reggie Koch, owner and manager, noted he is applying for a beer and wine license as his 
customers ask for beer and wine with their wings.  He has been in the restaurant industry for over 
20 years, and he has experience in the LEAD program.  

There being no further testimony, Chairman Blum closed the public hearing.

On motion by Vice Chairman Breton, seconded by Commissioner Leckness, and unanimously 
carried, the Commission adopted Resolution 2020-1422 approving CUP2019-407 to permit a beer 
and wine license at Epic Wings, 28621 Marguerite Parkway.

OLD BUSINESS
VIA FABRICANTE ANGLED PARKING AND TRAFFIC CALMING  
Director of Public Works Chagnon presented the staff report.  In March 2019, angled parking was 

Page 2 of 6Item# 1



Planning and Transportation Commission Minutes
January 13, 2020
Page 3

installed on Via Fabricante, with a follow-up survey sent to the businesses after six months to 
reevaluate the traffic calming measures.  He noted there has been one reported collision on Via 
Fabricante during that time, however, it was not related to the angled parking.  The traffic speed 
on the street has been reduced from 41 mph to 35 mph as a result of the parking.   The result of the 
survey showed that the majority of business owners indicated a preference for the angled parking 
to be converted to parallel parking and had concerns about safety and vehicle speeds.  In December, 
after review by the Traffic Committee, the recommendation was was to leave the angled parking 
in place and implement further traffic calming measures.  Those measures would consist of 
electronic speed feedback signs and implementing a 5 mph speed limit reduction from 35 mph to 
30 mph.

Chairman Blum discussed the Traffic Committee meeting that he attended with Commissioner 
Leckness.  He noted a significant majority of the business owners were originally in favor of angled 
parking to add more street parking.  As there have been no reported accidents in six months, the 
Committee understood there were still some concerns, but recommended that the owners give it a 
little more time.  Chairman Blum stated the Committee favored additional traffic calming 
measures, including educating the business customers.  

Vice Chairman Breton stated he was concerned with some of the comments on the survey such as  
stating accidents are just waiting to happen.  Trucks parked in the angled spaces affect visibility 
and it is dangerous to back up from adjacent spaces or from parking lot.  Others comments included 
speeding vehicles down the street, and that certain businesses park their vehicles on the street, so 
the spaces are filled early in the morning.   Director Chagnon noted that included in the original 
survey was an option to restrict the length of time a vehicle could park on the street, but it was 
opposed by a majority of the business owners.  

Darryl Bellissimo, All Right Pool and Spa, 23632 Via Fabricante, #D, spoke in opposition to 
staff’s recommendation.  He stated trucks are too big for the angled parking, and as a result 
vehicles have to drive down the center of the street to avoid hitting the parked vehicle.  There is 
also limited visibility leaving driveways.  He witnessed an accident across from Evolution Swim 
School, and he noted he has videos he could show the Commission of the dangers on Via 
Fabricante.  Lastly, he stated he would forgo the additional parking for safety.  

Tina Tran, 23881 Via Fabricante, owner Elegant Tailoring, stated since the change in parking she 
has noticed a problem with blocked views leaving her parking lot.  Her customers have also 
complained, and she would like a return to the parallel parking.

Amir Mohammadpour, A to Z Automotive, 23672 Via Fabricante, thanked the Commission for 
the extra parking, but did note that there is a sight issue when vehicles pull out of parking lots.

Karin Krawiec, Neighborhood Car Care, 23761 Via Fabricante, was in favor of keeping the angled 
parking.  She did not agree that the street is more dangerous, and stated things seem calmer.  There 
are still challenges to finding parking, and that more parking is needed.  She agreed with the 
implementation of the 30 mph speed limit.

Page 3 of 6Item# 1



Planning and Transportation Commission Minutes
January 13, 2020
Page 4

Lilly Mohammadpour, owner, A-Z Automotive, 23672 Via Fabricante, was in opposition.  She 
stated she has to drive down the middle of the street so as not to hit the large trucks in the angled 
parking spaces.  She also mentioned she had a near miss accident.  Lastly, she stated she doesn’t 
feel they have gained any spaces, but she feels that she lost some due to the white markers. 

Chairman Blum noted the Traffic Committee did its best to accommodate the owners by adding  
parking stalls.  Forty-three business owners originally voted for the angled parking.  This was to 
benefit the business community, but he added public health and safety are also important.  
Reducing the speed will help with traffic calming, and he suggested asking the business owners 
to move any of their vehicles off the street for more customer on-street parking.  

Vice Chairman Breton inquired of staff if there could be a restriction on angled parking to limit 
it to non-trucks, only passenger cars.  Director Chagnon stated staff can look into it.  However, 
posting a sign at every spot may be impractical.  He stated he would confirm with the 
Transportation Engineer and get back to the Commission.  

Commissioner Leckness noted for years parking has been terrible on Via Fabricante.  Staff put 
forth a lot of effort and money to find a solution, and he agrees with staff’s recommendation to 
leave the angled parking in place.

Commissioner Ruesch, stated he was in favor of staff’s recommendation.  However, reducing the 
speed is only as good as enforcement or nothing is accomplished.  He also questioned the size of 
a vehicle that could park in the angled spaces, noting there needs to be some restrictions.  

Commissioner Knauerhaze, noted that the drive area is a cut-through from Alicia Parkway to 
Target, as the corner of Alicia and Jeronimo is very congested.  Six months is too short of a time 
frame to determine if the angled parking is working.  The data heard is not enough to reverse the 
parking.  He noted change is hard, and he looks forward to more discussion on the issues at the 
Traffic Committee, but the business owners need to give it more time.

Vice Chairman Breton summarized the recommended action that includes keeping the angled 
parking, installing two electronic feedback signs, and reducing the speed limit to 30 mph.  
Director Chagnon concurred that was the recommendation.

Chairman Blum noted the Traffic Committee will see that the sheriff’s deputies enforce the speed 
limit.

Darryl Bellissimo, All Right Pool and Spa, 23632 Via Fabricante, #D, asked where he can send 
weekly dash cam videos of the street traffic.  Director Lister noted he can send them to the Public 
Works Administrative Secretary.

Tina Tran, 23881 Via Fabricante, Elegant Tailoring, asked that the Commissioners drive over to 
view the parking and the issues with exiting driveways.

Page 4 of 6Item# 1



Planning and Transportation Commission Minutes
January 13, 2020
Page 5

On motion by Commissioner Leckness, seconded by Commissioner Ruesch, and unanimously 
carried, the Commission approved: 1) to preserve the parking on Via Fabricante and implement 
traffic calming in the form of electronic speed feedback signs; and 2) recommended to City 
Council the reduction of the posted speed limit on Via Fabricante from 35 mph to 30 mph and the 
corresponding approval of Ordinance 20-XX amending Chapter 12.04.010(d) of the Mission 
Viejo Municipal Code regarding prima facie speed limits on certain streets.

The Commission took a five minute break.

PLANNING AND TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION REORGANIZATION

ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN, VICE CHAIRMAN, TRAFFIC COMMITTEE, AND DESIGN 
REVIEW COMMITTEE MEMBERS
On motion by Chairman Blum, seconded by Commissioner Leckness, and unanimously carried, 
Vice Chairman Breton was nominated and elected Chairman.  Vice Chairman Breton abstained 
from voting.  

On motion by Vice Chairman Breton, seconded by Commissioner Leckness, and unanimously 
carried, Commissioner Ruesch was nominated and elected Vice Chairman.  Commissioner Ruesch 
abstained from voting.

Commissioners Leckness and Knauerhaze were appointed to the Traffic Committee.  Vice 
Chairman Ruesch and Commissioner Blum were appointed to the Design Review Committee.  

Chairman Breton thanked former Chairman Blum for an outstanding job as Chairman and his 
exemplary handling of the meetings using tact and diplomacy, as well as his work in the reaching 
out to the community to help manage resident concerns.

COMMITTEE REPORTS
There was no Design Review Committee meeting scheduled.  The Traffic Committee met on 
December 16, 2019.  The agenda included discussion of the review of the parking and traffic 
calming on Via Fabricante.

STAFF COMMENTS 
Director Lister had no comments.

PLANNING AND TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION COMMENTS, REPORTS, AND 
ACTIONS
Commissioner Knauerhaze wished everyone a Happy New Year.  He extended his gratitude to 
staff noting that their outstanding work has been noticed by residents throughout the community;  
he has received compliments on multiple projects including the sport fields, center dividers, and 
the trees.  He has learned a lot from the Commission in 2019 and looks forward to learning more 
in 2020.

Page 5 of 6Item# 1



Planning and Transportation Commission Minutes
January 13, 2020
Page 6

Commissioner Leckness thanked Commissioner Blum for a great job as Chairman, and 
commented that his soft spoken manner is an asset as Chairman.

Vice Chairman Ruesch also thanked Commissioner Blum for his role as Chairman and for all he 
has learned from him.  He looks forward to serving the Commission in 2020.

Commissioner Blum stated he was flattered by all the compliments and thanked staff and his 
fellow Commissioners for their tremendous support.  He stated he couldn’t have done it without 
a good team, and was fortunate for having a great Commission. 

Chairman Breton commented on the State changing the law for accessory dwelling units.  The  
City had sent proposed ordinance to the State for comment, but will now have to revise to comply 
with the new changes.  

City Attorney Curley, noted the State will take into consideration that the City made a good faith 
effort to comply with the previous law.  He also noted that at the next meeting there will be a new 
Assistant City Attorney in attendance.

Commissioner Leckness thanked City staff for all their hard work.

Chairman Breton thanked the staff for the job they do on a daily basis, and wished everyone a 
Happy New Year.

ADJOURMENT
Chairman Breton adjourned the meeting at 7:55 p.m., to 6:30 p.m., Monday, February 10, 2020 
for the regular Planning and Transportation Commission meeting.

________________________________
Joseph C. Blum, Chairman

________________________________
Elaine Lister, Secretary

Page 6 of 6Item# 1



Page 1 of 12Item# 2



Page 2 of 12Item# 2



Page 3 of 12Item# 2



Page 4 of 12Item# 2



Page 5 of 12Item# 2



Page 6 of 12Item# 2



Page 7 of 12Item# 2



Page 8 of 12Item# 2



Page 9 of 12Item# 2



Page 10 of 12Item# 2



Page 11 of 12Item# 2



Page 12 of 12Item# 2



CUP2019-409
Page 1

  City of Mission Viejo
  Planning and Transportation Commission Staff Report

Date: January 30, 2020

To: Planning and Transportation Commission

From: Sarah McMillan, Planning Technician through
Elaine Lister, Director of Community Development

For: Planning and Transportation Commission Meeting of February 10, 2020

Subject: Conditional Use Permit CUP2019-409 – Petition submitted by Gabriel and 
Monique Ruiz to permit a State Department of Alcoholic Beverage Control 
(ABC) Type 41 beer and wine license, for on-site consumption in conjunction 
with food service at a new gastropub restaurant, Wursthaus, located within 
Silverado Plaza at 25522 Jeronimo Road, in the CN (Commercial 
Neighborhood) zone.    

RECOMMENDED ACTION
Adopt resolution approving CUP2019-409.

DISCUSSION

A. Background
The subject site is located at 25522 Jeronimo Road in the Silverado Plaza shopping 
center. The site is identified as Assessor Parcel Number (APN) 809-311-16. The site is 
immediately southeast of the City of Lake Forest and the intersection of Jeronimo Road 
and Los Alisos Boulevard, and north of the Via Fabricante Industrial Park. The site is 
surrounded by business commercial, fast food restaurants, and office uses such as 
Saddleback Unified School District.  A vicinity map is provided as Attachment 2. The 
commercial shopping center features restaurants and services, including Cali’s Pet 
Grooming, Appletree Montessori School and Rebel Femme Salon to name a few.

B. Project Description
The subject application is a request to permit a Type 41 (On-Sale Beer and Wine - Public 
Eating Place – Restaurant) liquor license from the California Department of Alcoholic 
Beverage Control (ABC) in conjunction with Wursthaus, a new sausage gastropub 
restaurant. The restaurant proposes serving alcoholic beverages (beer and wine) in 
conjunction with meals to enhance the customers dining experience. A site plan, floor 
plan, and letter of explanation are attached for reference (Attachments 3 and 4). The 
business, including alcoholic beverage service, propose hours from 11:00 a.m. to 12:00 

Page 1 of 20Item# 3



CUP2019-409
Page 2

a.m. Sunday through Tuesday, 11:00 a.m.to 1:00 a.m. Wednesday and Thursday, and 
11:00 a.m. to 2:00 a.m. Friday and Saturday (Attachment 5). The interior of the restaurant 
serves, on average, 80 guests at any one time. The exterior patio where beer and wine 
will be served will accommodate serve up to 30 patrons at any one time. The nearest 
residential property is located over 500 feet to the north, across both Jeronimo and Los 
Alisos Parkway, in the City of Lake Forest.

The applicants propose to modify the existing façade of the end building unit, facing 
Jeronimo Road, to align with their restaurant brand identity. The applicants first 
restaurant located in Santa Ana, California comprises of a brick and industrial façade and 
they wish to reproduce that style Mission Viejo. The applicants assert that their Santa 
Ana location has established placemaking, in that the community recognizes their 
establishment and based on their food service, aesthetics and social offerings the public is 
drawn to return to their restaurant. Therefore, in order to establish brand cohesiveness, 
they are requesting to modify the suite from the existing stone and beige stucco to their 
restaurant design. Additionally, the restaurant owners have agreed with the City and 
property owners that, if they discontinue their occupancy, they will return the unit to its 
previous façade design. The proposed design enhancements were reviewed at Design 
Review Committee on February 4, 2020. 

C. Concentration and Location Criteria
The subject property is located in Census Tract 320.28. This census tract is generally 
bounded by the BANSF Railroad to the west, Los Alisos Blvd to the north, Trabuco Road 
to the east, and Alicia Parkway to the south. For this census tract, the ABC authorizes a 
maximum of three (3) on-sale alcoholic beverage licenses.  According to ABC, the 
census tract has been allotted nine (9) on-sale active licenses (Attachments 6).  Therefore, 
there is an over-concentration for on-sale licenses within this census tract. While there 
may be a relatively high concentration of on-sale licenses in Census Tract 320.22, the 
project will not result in conditions detrimental to the public welfare because of the size 
of the census tract, the distance between food establishments in the area, and the fact that 
the subject parcel is not located within 100 feet of a residence or other sensitive use (i.e., 
school, park, religious institution etc.). 

Additionally, Lt. Quyen Vuong, Chief of Mission Viejo Police Services, reviewed the 
subject application and has no concerns with the request to operate with an ABC license.  
Given information provided by ABC and analysis conducted by staff, including the 
Police Chief’s assessment that no issues are anticipated with service of alcoholic 
beverages in a bona-fide public eating establishment, staff recommends approval of 
CUP2019-409 for a Type 41 Beer and Wine ABC license for Wursthaus a Gastropub 
restaurant. ABC does not require a public convenience and necessity finding for on-sale 
ABC licenses (i.e. restaurants).

D. Environmental Determination
Article 19 "Categorical Exemption" of the California Environmental Quality Act includes 
a list of projects which have been determined not to have a significant effect on the 
environment and which are, therefore, exempt from CEQA.  Staff evaluation of the 

Page 2 of 20Item# 3



CUP2019-409
Page 3

proposed use determined that the project qualifies as a Class 1 exemption for “Existing 
Facilities,” pursuant to Section 15301 of the CEQA Guidelines.

E. Project Land Use Consistency
The City of Mission Viejo General Plan Land Use Policy Map and the City of Mission 
Viejo Development code and Zoning Map designate the site as the “CN” (Commercial 
Neighborhood) The proposed on-site consumption of alcoholic beverages in conjunction 
with a restaurant is permitted in the CN zone with approval of a Conditional Use Permit.

F. Authority for Review
Section 9.11.020(c)(1) and Section 9.11.015 of the Mission Viejo Development Code 
require a Conditional Use Permit for an application of a new ABC License.  The 
applicant has filed CUP2019-409 in response to this requirement.  Applicable findings 
required in conjunction with a Conditional Use Permit are as follows:

 
1. General Plan.  The project proposed is consistent with the General Plan.
2. Zoning Code.  The use, activity or improvement(s) proposed by the application is 

consistent with the provisions of the Zoning Code.
3. CEQA.  The approval for the permit application is in compliance with the 

requirements of the California Environmental Quality Act.
4. Compatibility.  The location, size, design, and operating characteristics of the 

proposed use are compatible with existing and known future uses and will not 
create significant noise, traffic, or other conditions or situations that may be 
objectionable or detrimental to other permitted uses in the vicinity or adverse to 
the public interest, health, safety, convenience, or welfare of the City.  

G. Inter-Departmental Review
The application was reviewed by the City's Building Division, Public Services 
Department, Public Works Department and Police Services. Their comments, if any, are 
incorporated in the attached draft resolution of approval.

H. Notice
Notice was sent to all property owners within 300 feet from the subject site, placed in the 
newspaper, and posted as required by state and local law. 

ATTACHMENTS
1. Draft resolution approving CUP2019-409.
2. Vicinity Map.
3. Letter of Explanation marked Exhibit “A” and dated 02/10/2020.
4. Plans marked Exhibit “B” and dated 02/10/2020.
5. Table of Restaurants and Bars Open Late in Mission Viejo
6. Report of the active licenses for the subject Census tract from the California Department 

of Alcoholic Beverage Control (ABC).
7. Census Tract map.
8. Planning Application.
9. Minutes from Design Review Committee (DRC) meeting February 4, 2020.

Page 3 of 20Item# 3



CUP2019-409
Page 4

cc: Mohammed Baghdadi
West Ridge Commercial Inc. 
23101 Mouton Pkwy Suite 210
Laguna Hills, CA 92653  
mb@wci1.net

Gabriel Ruiz 
Wursthaus, Inc. 
35 Umbria 
Lake Forest, CA 92630
gabriel@flooroc.com 

This report was prepared by Sarah McMillan, Planning Technician: (949) 470-3020.

G:\CD\WP\currentplan\Sarah\Projects\CUP\CUP2019-409 - ABC - 25522 Jeronimo Rd - Wursthaus

Page 4 of 20Item# 3

mailto:gabriel@flooroc.com


RESOLUTION 2020-XXX

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF MISSION VIEJO PLANNING AND 
TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION APPROVING CONDITIONAL USE 
PERMIT CUP2019-409, SUBMITTED BY GABRIEL AND MONIQUE 
RUIZ OF WURSTHAUS, INC., APPLICANTS, TO PERMIT A STATE 
DEPARTMENT OF ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGE CONTROL (ABC) TYPE 
41 ON-SALE BEER AND WINE - PUBLIC EATING PLACE – 
RESTAURANT LICENSE, FOR ON-SITE CONSUMPTION IN 
CONJUNCTION WITH FOOD SERVICE AT A RESTAURANT, 
WURSTHAUS, LOCATED AT 25522 JERONIMO ROAD, IN THE CN 
(COMMERCIAL NEIGHBORHOOD) ZONE.

WHEREAS, Conditional Use Permit CUP2019-409 was filed by Gabriel and Monique 
Ruiz, applicants, in accordance with the provisions of the City of Mission Viejo Municipal Code; 
and

WHEREAS, Conditional Use Permit CUP2019-409 was processed in the time and 
manner prescribed by state and local law; and

WHEREAS, the Planning and Transportation Commission conducted a noticed public 
hearing on February 10, 2020, at which time interested persons had an opportunity to testify 
either in support or opposition.

NOW, THEREFORE, THE PLANNING AND TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 
OF THE CITY OF MISSION VIEJO DOES HEREBY RESOLVE, DETERMINE AND 
ORDER AS FOLLOWS:

SECTION 1 - FINDINGS
That the City of Mission Viejo Planning and Transportation Commission hereby makes the 
following findings:

1. That the proposed use is consistent with the City of Mission Viejo General Plan.

2. That the proposed use is conditionally permitted within the CN (Commercial 
Neighborhood) zoning district and complies with all of the applicable provisions of the 
City of Mission Viejo Development Code.

3. That the location, size, design, and operating characteristics of the proposed use are 
compatible with existing and known future uses and will not create significant noise, 
traffic, or other conditions or situations that may be objectionable or detrimental to other 
permitted uses in the vicinity or adverse to the public interest, health, safety, 
convenience, or welfare of the City.

Page 5 of 20Item# 3



CUP2019-409
Page 2

4. That the proposed use will not impair the integrity or character of the CN (Commercial 
Neighborhood) zoning district in which it is located.

5. That the subject site is physically suitable for the type and intensity of use being 
proposed. 

6. That there are adequate provisions for water, sanitation, and public utilities and services 
to ensure that the proposed use will not be detrimental to public health and safety. 

7. That approval of the Conditional Use Permit for the proposed use is in compliance with 
the requirements of the California Environmental Quality Act.

8. That the data and analysis upon which these findings of fact are based are set forth in 
staff report, staff presentations, public testimony, and Commission comments that 
constituted the Planning and Transportation Commissioners’ review of this application.

SECTION 2 - ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW
The Community Development Department staff examined the proposal and determined that it is 
categorically exempt from the provisions of the California Environmental Quality Act pursuant 
to Section 15301 “Existing Facilities” of the CEQA Guidelines.

SECTION 3 - CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL
That the City of Mission Viejo Planning and Transportation Commission hereby approves 
Conditional Use Permit CUP2019-409 to permit a Type 41 (On-Sale Beer and Wine - Public 
Eating Place – Restaurant) alcoholic beverage license in conjunction with Wursthaus, a 
restaurant located at 25522 Jeronimo Road subject to the following conditions:

1. That this approval constitutes approval of the proposed project only to the extent that the 
project complies with the City of Mission Viejo Development Code and any other 
applicable zoning regulations.  Approval does not include any action or findings as to 
compliance or approval of the project regarding any other applicable ordinance, 
regulation or requirement.

2. That this approval is valid for a period of one year from the date of final determination.  
If the use approved by this action is not established within such period of time, 
CUP2019-409 shall expire unless upon written request by the applicant prior to the 
expiration date, an extension is granted by the Planning and Transportation Commission. 

3. That except as otherwise provided herein, this permit is approved as a precise plan.  After 
any application has been approved, if changes are proposed regarding the location or 
alteration of any use or structure, a changed plan may be submitted to the Director of 
Community Development for approval.  If the Director determines that the proposed 
change complies with the provisions and the spirit and intent of the approval action, and 

Page 6 of 20Item# 3



CUP2019-409
Page 3

that the action would have been the same for the changed plan as for the approved plot 
plan, the Director may approve the changed plan without requiring a new public hearing.

4. That the exterior façade of the lease space shall be remodeled in a manner consistent with 
that discussed and agreed upon in the February 4, 2020 Design Review Committee 
(DRC) meeting. Final plan showing the remodel shall be subject to joint review and 
approval by the Director of Community Development and Assistant City Manager / 
Director of Public Services (Attachment 9).

5. That this restaurant use vacate the premises, either the restaurant owner or property 
owner shall restore the exterior of the building to pre-existing conditions within 60 days 
of vacation of said restaurant use, including replacement of the original stone veneer, 
building colors, window features, etc., to the satisfaction of the Director of Community 
Development.

6. That if the approved use is discontinued for 90 continuous days or an aggregate of 120 
days during any 365-day period, CUP2019-409 shall automatically lapse and shall 
become null and void.

7. That if, in the opinion of the Director of Community Development, any aspect of the 
restaurant creates a nuisance, the property owner and applicant shall take measures to 
eliminate the nuisance.  For purposes of this condition, a nuisance includes, but is not 
limited to, the following:

A. Building exterior, roof, landscaping, grounds, walls, fences, driveways, parking 
lot, sidewalk, or walkways which are defective, hazardous, or unsightly;

B. Refuse placed so as to be visible from neighboring properties or streets;
C. Improperly maintained signs or illegal signs;
D. Occupancy exceeding the limit set forth in the City's Building Code, City's Fire 

Code, or this resolution, whichever limit is most stringent.
E. Lack of adequate ventilation, sanitation, or plumbing facilities, or a condition that 

constitutes a fire hazard;
F. Loitering;
G. Noise;
H. Parking congestion;
I. Overnight outside storage of vehicles;
J. Any other condition or practice declared by state, county, or City statute, code, or 

regulation to be a public nuisance;
K. Violation of the Planning and Transportation Commission’s conditions of 

approval of CUP2019-409.

8. That all window signs, banners, pennants, A-frame signs, balloons, neon signs or other 
freestanding signs (with the exception of one “Open” sign), flashing or blinking lights, 
and flags (with the exception of the American or California State flag on a stanchion not 

Page 7 of 20Item# 3



CUP2019-409
Page 4

exceeding 20 feet in height) shall be prohibited at all times except as otherwise permitted 
in a City approved sign program.  No exposed neon shall be located on the exterior 
portions of the building, including signage.  

9. That the applicant shall maintain the premises in a clean and sanitary condition at all 
times.  A trash control policy shall be instituted by the applicant to ensure the prompt 
removal of empty bottles, cans, and debris that may accumulate at the site. If at anytime 
in the future it is determined by the Director of Community Development that the trash 
facility is inadequate, the property owner at his/her expense shall expand the trash facility 
to meet trash requirements as evidenced by operations. All trash, storage of cartons, 
containers, and other discarded items shall be screened from public view at all times. The 
applicant agrees to work with Waste Management to develop a recycling plan to include 
employee training, and to utilize appropriate recycle containers.

10. That the applicant shall obtain a “Type 41” (On-Sale Beer and Wine - Public Eating 
Place – Restaurant) license from the California Department of Alcoholic Beverage 
Control prior to the sale of alcoholic beverages at the subject site.  The on-sale of liquor 
shall be conducted in compliance with all California Department of Alcoholic Beverage 
Control rules and regulations. The applicant acknowledges that use of the subject facility 
is a restaurant and that it will not be converted into a bar.

11. That the applicant shall attend the Licensee Education on Alcohol and Drugs (LEAD) 
training seminar from the California Department of Alcoholic Beverage Control (ABC). 
Prior to the sale of alcohol, the applicant shall provide the City with proof that local 
managers have completed the State Alcoholic Beverage Control LEAD training.  

12. That live entertainment or other uses not expressly permitted in this resolution shall not 
be allowed unless prior written approval by the Director of Community Development is 
received.  

13. That the management of this business shall immediately report any incidents involving 
unusual disturbances, physical injury/altercations, or unlawful conduct to the City’s 
Police Department.  This business shall educate its management staff and employees of 
the need to report such incidents.

14. That the business hours of operation shall be 11:00 a.m. to 12:00 a.m. Sunday through 
Tuesday, 11:00 a.m.to 1:00 a.m. Wednesday and Thursday, and 11:00 a.m. to 2:00 a.m. 
Friday and Saturday unless longer hours are expressly authorized by the Director of 
Community Development.

15. That this approval excludes the rental of any portion of the subject lease space for a use 
not authorized under this approval without written approval by the Planning and 
Transportation Commission.

Page 8 of 20Item# 3



CUP2019-409
Page 5

16. That this business operation shall be carried out in general conformance with the letter of 
explanation plans marked Exhibit “A”, and plans submitted by the applicant marked 
Exhibit “B” and dated February 10, 2020 for reference.

17. That this approval is expressly granted to Gabriel and Monique Ruiz of Wursthaus and is 
not transferable unless and until the new owner/operator submits a letter to the City's 
Director of Community Development wherein said owner/operator states he/she has read, 
understands, and agrees to the conditions of approval of Conditional Use Permit 
CUP209-409.

18. That prior to use of the outdoor patio area, a separate outdoor seating permit must be 
obtained from the City.

19. That failure to abide by and faithfully comply with any and all conditions attached to the 
granting of this conditional use permit shall constitute grounds for revocation of said 
CUP approval by the Planning and Transportation Commission.

20. That this approval is contingent upon written acknowledgment from the property owner 
and applicant indicating that they accept the benefits conferred by this approval subject to 
the conditions imposed herein.

PASSED, APPROVED, AND ADOPTED THIS 10th DAY OF FEBRUARY, 2020.

                                                                  
 Robert Breton, Chairman

                                                      
Elaine Lister, Secretary

Page 9 of 20Item# 3



CUP2019-409
Page 6

PROPERTY OWNER’S AND APPLICANT’S ACKNOWLEDGMENT
I have read, understand, and accept the conditions of approval set forth herein above in this 
resolution of approval for Conditional Use Permit CUP2019-409.

                                                                                                               
Date Gabriel Ruiz or Monique Ruiz, Wursthaus Inc. (Applicant)

                                                                                                               
Date Jeronimo LLC (Property Owner)

G:\CD\WP\currentplan\Sarah\Projects\CUP\CUP2019-409 - ABC - 25522 Jeronimo Rd - Wursthaus

Page 10 of 20Item# 3



Page 11 of 20Item# 3



Page 12 of 20Item# 3



Page 13 of 20Item# 3



Page 14 of 20Item# 3



Page 15 of 20Item# 3



Page 16 of 20Item# 3



Page 17 of 20Item# 3



Page 18 of 20Item# 3



Page 19 of 20Item# 3



Page 20 of 20Item# 3



   City of Mission Viejo
   Planning and Transportation Commission Staff Report

Date: January 31, 2020

To: Planning and Transportation Commission

From: Nick Lagura, Associate Planner through 
Elaine Lister, Director of Community Development

For: Planning and Transportation Commission meeting of February 10, 2020

Subject: Conditional Use Permit CUP2019-406 – Petition submitted by Feiyan You to 
permit operation of a new 1,400-square-foot massage establishment, New 
Squared Massage Spa, located in the Alicia Trabuco shopping center, at 
26861 Trabuco Road, Suite C, in the CN (Commercial Neighborhood) zone. 

RECOMMENDED ACTION
Adopt resolution approving CUP2019-406.

DISCUSSION

A. Project Location and Surrounding Land Uses
The project site is located in the Alicia Trabuco shopping center at 26861 Trabuco Road, 
Suite C, in the CN (Commercial Neighborhood) zone. Other tenants in the shopping 
center include Smart & Final, CVS, Cicero’s Pizzeria, Subway, and Maison De Pho to 
name a few. The site is surrounded by single-family residential neighborhoods.  A 
vicinity map is included as Attachment 2. The tenant space was formerly occupied by 
several massage establishments.  New Nail and Skin Care Salon, approved under 
CUP1998-100, originally occupied the lease space in 1998.  Subsequently, the business 
was replaced by Zen Day Spa in 2009, New Blessing Day Spa in 2013, and more 
recently, Six Star Villa Foot Spa, approved under CUP2017-369, occupied the lease 
space from 2017 to 2019. 

B. Project Description 
The subject application is to permit a new spa/massage establishment, New Squared 
Massage Spa. The proposed establishment will occupy approximately 1,400 square feet 
of lease area and will include seven massage therapy rooms with eight massage tables, 
reception/lobby area, restroom, and break room.  Up to five massage therapists will be 
present onsite.   Proposed business hours are from 10 a.m. to 10 p.m. daily.  Services 
include traditional Swedish massage, deep tissue massage, foot massage, hot stone 
massage, and reflexology massage.  The applicant currently operates an existing 

Page 1 of 15Item# 4



CUP2019-406
Page 2

establishment in Laguna Hills (24881 Alicia Parkway, Suite B). The applicant’s letter of 
explanation is provided in Attachment 4.

All massage therapists working within the City of Mission Viejo are required to be 
licensed by the State of California.  If the subject CUP application is approved by the 
Planning and Transportation Commission, the City will require the business to obtain a 
Massage Establishment License, while the individual therapists will each be required to 
provide the City a copy of a valid State of California massage therapist license.  The City 
has the authority under Municipal Code Section 5.03.214 to inspect the massage 
establishment to ensure it adheres to this CUP application. In addition, a background 
check was conducted by the California Department of Justice on the applicant and the 
results have come back clean with no criminal record.

Parking
Parking for the facility will be within the existing parking lot for the center.  In this 
particular case, staff does not believe the proposed business will create a parking demand 
beyond what is available in the center.

C. Environmental Determination
Article 19 “Categorical Exemption” of the California Environmental Quality Act includes 
a list of classes of projects which have been determined not to have a significant effect on 
the environment and which shall, therefore, be exempt from CEQA.  Staff evaluation of 
the proposed massage establishment determined that the project qualifies as a Class 1 
exemption, “Existing Facilities.”

D. Project Land Use Consistency
The City of Mission Viejo General Plan and the City of Mission Viejo Development 
Code and Zoning Map designate the site as CN (Commercial Neighborhood).  A massage 
establishment is permitted in this zoning district subject to approval of a Conditional Use 
Permit.

E. Authority for Review
This petition is being processed as a Conditional Use Permit.  Section 9.11.015 of the 
Mission Viejo Development Code requires a Conditional Use Permit for a massage 
establishment in any commercial zone.  The applicant has filed a Conditional Use Permit 
in response to this requirement.  Applicable findings required in conjunction with a 
Conditional Use Permit are as follows:

1. General Plan.  The project proposed is consistent with the General Plan.
2. Zoning Code.  The use, activity or improvement(s) proposed by the application is 

consistent with the provisions of the Zoning Code.
3. CEQA.  The approval for the permit application is in compliance with the 

requirements of the California Environmental Quality Act.

Page 2 of 15Item# 4



CUP2019-406
Page 3

4. Compatibility.  The location, size, design, and operating characteristics of the 
proposed use are compatible with existing and known future uses and will not 
create significant noise, traffic, or other conditions or situations that may be 
objectionable or detrimental to other permitted uses in the vicinity or adverse to 
the public interest, health, safety, convenience, or welfare of the City.

F.  Inter-Departmental Review
The proposed project was reviewed by the City’s Building Official, Transportation 
Manager, City Engineer, Assistant City Manager/Director of Public Services and the 
Orange County Sheriff Department.  No concerns were raised in response to the 
applicant’s request.  Additionally, the applicant, representatives of the property owner, 
and staff including Code Enforcement and Police Services, discussed the requirements 
for opening a massage establishment in the City during a pre-application meeting.

G. Notice
Notice was sent to all property owners within 300 feet of the subject site, placed in the 
newspaper, and posted as required by state and local law.

ATTACHMENTS
1. Draft Resolution approving CUP2019-406
2. Vicinity Map
3. Plans, marked Exhibit “A”
4. Letter of Explanation, marked Exhibit “B”
5. Planning Application

CC: Tim Chung
Westwood Financial
11440 San Vicente #200
Los Angeles, CA 90049
(310) 820-5443
tchung@westfin.com

G:\CD\WP\currentplan\Nick\Projects\^CUP\CUP2019-406_New Squared Massage

Page 3 of 15Item# 4



RESOLUTION 2020-XXX

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF MISSION VIEJO PLANNING AND 
TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION APPROVING CONDITIONAL USE 
PERMIT CUP2019-406 SUBMITTED BY FEIYAN YOU, TO PERMIT A 
NEW 1,400-SQUARE-FOOT MASSAGE ESTABLISHMENT, NEW 
SQUARED MASSAGE SPA, LOCATED IN THE ALICIA TRABUCO 
SHOPPING CENTER, AT 26861 TRABUCO ROAD, SUITE C, IN THE CN 
(COMMERCIAL NEIGHBORHOOD) ZONE.

WHEREAS, Conditional Use Permit CUP2019-406 was filed by Feyian You in 
accordance with the provisions of the City of Mission Viejo Municipal Code; and

WHEREAS, Conditional Use Permit CUP2019-406 was processed in the time and 
manner prescribed by state and local law; and

WHEREAS, the Planning and Transportation Commission conducted a noticed public 
hearing on February 10, 2020, at which time interested persons had an opportunity to testify 
either in support or opposition.

NOW, THEREFORE, THE PLANNING AND TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 
OF THE CITY OF MISSION VIEJO DOES HEREBY RESOLVE, DETERMINE AND 
ORDER AS FOLLOWS:

SECTION 1 - FINDINGS
That the City of Mission Viejo Planning and Transportation Commission hereby makes the 
following findings:

1. That the proposed use is consistent with the City of Mission Viejo General Plan.

2. That the proposed use is conditionally permitted within the CN (Commercial 
Neighborhood) zoning district and complies with all of the applicable provisions of the 
City of Mission Viejo Development Code.

3. That the location, size, design, and operating characteristics of the proposed use are 
compatible with existing and known future uses and will not create significant noise, 
traffic, or other conditions or situations that may be objectionable or detrimental to other 
permitted uses in the vicinity or adverse to the public interest, health, safety, 
convenience, or welfare of the City.

4. That the proposed use will not impair the integrity or character of the commercial zoning 
district in which it is located.

5. That the subject site is physically suitable for the type and intensity of use being 
proposed. 

Page 4 of 15Item# 4



CUP2019-406
Page 2

6. That there are adequate provisions for water, sanitation, and public utilities and services 
to ensure that the proposed use will not be detrimental to public health and safety. 

7. That approval of the Conditional Use Permit for the proposed use is in compliance with 
the requirements of the California Environmental Quality Act. 

8. That the data and analysis upon which these findings of fact are based are set forth in the 
staff report for CUP2019-406, staff presentations, public testimony, and Commission 
comments that constituted the Planning and Transportation Commissioners' review of 
this application.

SECTION 2 - ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW
The Community Development Department staff examined the proposal and determined that it is 
categorically exempt from the provisions of the California Environmental Quality Act pursuant 
to Section 15301 “Existing Facilities” of the CEQA Guidelines.

SECTION 3 - CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL
That the City of Mission Viejo Planning and Transportation Commission hereby approves 
CUP2019-406 to permit massage therapy services for New Squared Massage Spa, subject to the 
following conditions:  

1. That this approval constitutes approval of the proposed project only to the extent that the 
project complies with the City of Mission Viejo Development Code and any other 
applicable zoning regulations.  Approval does not include any action or findings as to 
compliance or approval of the project regarding any other applicable ordinance, 
regulation or requirement.

2. That this approval is valid for a period of one year from the date of final determination.  
If the use approved by this action is not established within such period of time, 
CUP2019-406 shall expire unless upon written request by the applicant prior to the 
expiration date, an extension is granted by the Planning and Transportation Commission. 

3. That except as otherwise provided herein, this permit is approved as a precise plan.  After 
any application has been approved, if changes are proposed regarding the location or 
alteration of any use or structure, a changed plan may be submitted to the Director of 
Community Development for approval.  If the Director determines that the proposed 
change complies with the provisions and the spirit and intent of the approval action, and 
that the action would have been the same for the changed plan as for the approved plot 
plan, the Director may approve the changed plan without requiring a new public hearing.

4. That if the approved use is discontinued for 90 continuous days or an aggregate of 120 
days during any 365-day period, CUP2019-406 shall automatically lapse and shall 
become null and void.

Page 5 of 15Item# 4



CUP2019-406
Page 3

5. That all window signs, banners, pennants, A-frame signs, balloons, neon signs (with the 
exception of one open/closed sign) or other freestanding signs, flashing or blinking lights, 
and flags (with the exception of the American or California State flag on a stanchion not 
exceeding 20 feet in height) shall be prohibited at all times except as otherwise permitted 
in a City approved sign program.  No exposed neon shall be located on the exterior 
portions of the building, including signage, unless specifically permitted by City code.  In 
addition, there shall be no curtains, or vinyl graphics placed on store front windows 
without Community Development Approval, and there shall be no signage in common 
are landscape or sidewalks.

6. That if, in the opinion of the Director of Community Development, an aspect of the 
business creates a nuisance, the property owner and applicant shall take measures to 
eliminate the nuisance.  For purposes of this condition, a nuisance includes, but is not 
limited to, the following:

A. Building exterior, roof, landscaping, grounds, walls, fences, driveways, parking 
lot, sidewalk, or walkway that are defective, hazardous, or unsightly;

B. Refuse placed so as to be visible from neighboring properties or streets;
C. Improperly maintained signs or illegal signs;
D. Occupancy exceeding limit set forth in the City's Building Code, City's Fire Code, 

or this resolution, whichever limit is most stringent.
E. Lack of adequate ventilation, sanitation, or plumbing facilities, or a condition that 

constitutes a fire hazard;
F. Loitering;
G. Noise;
H. Parking congestion;
I. Overnight outside storage of vehicles;
J. Any other condition or practice declared by state, county, or City statute, code, or 

regulation to be a public nuisance.
K. Violation of the Planning and Transportation Commission’s conditions of 

approval of this Conditional Use Permit.

7. That the applicant shall maintain the portion of the shopping center in close proximity to 
his business in a clean and sanitary condition at all times.  

8. That the proposed use shall meet the City’s interior and exterior noise standards.  

9. That any change to the approved site plan or floor plan shall be subject to further review 
and approval by the Director of Community Development.

10. That applicable provisions of the California Building Code, Fire Code, and all other 
applicable City codes, ordinances, and development standards in effect at the time of this 

Page 6 of 15Item# 4



CUP2019-406
Page 4

approval shall be complied with.  Building plans and permits will be required for any 
modification to the suite.

11. That the hours of operation of shall be limited to 10:00 a.m. to 10:00 p.m. daily.

12. That the business operations shall be carried out in general conformance with the plans 
and letter of explanation, marked Exhibits “A” through “B,” respectively, for 
identification. Furthermore, the massage therapy rooms shall be located in accordance 
with the applicant’s floor plan identified in Exhibit “A” of the staff report.

13. That the business shall have a maximum of five (5) customers in the establishment at any 
one time.

14. That the applicant shall comply with Mission Viejo Municipal Code Chapter 5.03 
Division 2, Massage Establishments, and that the applicant shall obtain a Massage 
Establishment License from the City prior to the conduct of any massage activities.

15. That prior to commencement of massage therapy, all massage technicians and/or massage 
practitioners shall obtain the appropriate massage license from the State of California.

16. That all employees, massage technicians and massage practitioners shall be clean and 
dressed appropriately while performing services upon the premises.  All patrons shall be 
appropriately draped while receiving such services.

17. That each service offered, price thereof, and the minimum length of time of such service, 
shall be posted in a conspicuous public location within the business.  No services shall be 
performed and no sums shall be charged for such services other than those posted.  All 
arrangements for services to be performed shall be made in a room in the massage 
establishment which is not used for administering massages, baths or health treatments.  
No massage technician or massage practitioner shall, after the commencement of any 
service for any patron, advise, suggest or otherwise indicate to such patron that any 
additional service is available, or ask or inquire of such patron whether such patron 
desires additional service to be performed.  No massage technician or massage 
practitioner shall perform any service for any patron which was not ordered by such 
patron prior to the commencement of performance of any service rendered.

18. That no alcoholic beverages shall be sold, served, furnished, kept or possessed on the 
premises.

19. That this approval excludes the rental of any portion of the subject lease space for a use 
not authorized under this approval, without written approval by the Planning and 
Transportation Commission.

Page 7 of 15Item# 4



CUP2019-406
Page 5

20. That no products/furniture shall be stored or displayed in storefront windows, to the 
satisfaction of the Assistant City Manager/Director of Public Services. Frosted vinyl 36” 
from the ground shall be used on the interior of the windows to screen the view of the 
furniture if it is placed in front of the windows in the tenant space.

21. That this approval is expressly granted to “New Squared Massage Spa” and is not 
transferable unless and until the new owner/operator submits a letter to the City's Director 
of Community Development wherein said owner/operator states he has read, understand, 
and agrees to the conditions of approval of Conditional Use Permit CUP2019-406.

22. That failure to abide by and faithfully comply with any and all conditions attached to the 
granting of this conditional use permit shall constitute grounds for revocation of said site 
plan approval by the Planning and Transportation Commission.

23. That this approval is contingent upon written acknowledgment from the property owner 
and applicant indicating that they accept the benefits conferred by this approval subject to 
the conditions imposed herein.

PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED THIS 10TH DAY OF FEBRUARY 2020.

Robert Breton, Chairman

Elaine Lister, Secretary

Page 8 of 15Item# 4



CUP2019-406
Page 6

PROPERTY OWNER’S AND APPLICANT’S ACKNOWLEDGMENT
I have read, understand, and accept the conditions of approval set forth herein above in this 
resolution of approval for Conditional Use Permit CUP2019-406.

                                                                                                                 
Date Feiyan You, Applicant

                                                                                            
Date Westwood Financial, Property Owner

G:\CD\WP\currentplan\Nick\Projects\^CUP\CUP2019-406_New Squared Massage

Page 9 of 15Item# 4



Page 10 of 15Item# 4



Page 11 of 15Item# 4



Page 12 of 15Item# 4



Page 13 of 15Item# 4



Page 14 of 15Item# 4



Page 15 of 15Item# 4



City of Mission Viejo
    Planning and Transportation Commission Staff Report

Date: January 31, 2020

To: Planning and Transportation Commission

From: Tim Martin, Senior Planner through
Elaine Lister, Director of Community Development

For: Planning and Transportation Commission Meeting of February 10, 2020

Subject: Planned Development Permit PDP2019-311 - Petition submitted by Pramira 
Inc., agent for AT&T, to construct a new “small-cell” wireless 
telecommunication monopole facility located within the public right-of-way 
along Marguerite Parkway, adjacent to the U.S. Post Office at 28081 
Marguerite Parkway, between Shops Boulevard to the north and College 
Center to the south.  Equipment installed on the new 33’-5”-tall steel pole 
would include four remote radio units, one omni-directional antenna, and 
one raycap disconnect, all located at the top of the pole within an equipment 
shroud.  

RECOMMENDED ACTION
Adopt resolution approving Planned Development Permit PDP2019-311.

DISCUSSION

A. Site Location
The project site is located within the public right-of-way along Marguerite Parkway on an 
existing sidewalk, adjacent to the U.S. Post Office at 28081 Marguerite Parkway, 
between Shops Boulevard to the north and College Center to the south. The subject site is 
located just south of the ingress/egress driveway for the Post Office. The subject site is 
further identified by the following coordinates: Latitude: 33.55456, Longitude: -
117.670144. The site is located approximately 150 ft east of the Idyllwillow Apartments, 
across Marguerite Parkway. College Center, a retail shopping center, is located just south 
of the site while the Shops at Mission Viejo mall is located to the north. A vicinity map is 
included as Attachment 2.

  B. Project Description
Planned Development Permit PDP2019-311 is a petition submitted by Pramira Inc., agent 
for AT&T, to construct a new “small-cell” wireless telecommunication monopole facility 
located within the public right-of-way along Marguerite Parkway, on an existing 

Page 1 of 90Item# 5



PDP2019-311
Page 2

sidewalk adjacent to the U.S. Post Office.  More specifically, the proposed slim-line 
monopole has an overall height of 33’5”, is 12” wide with a 2’ x 6” base. Equipment 
installed on the new steel monopole would include one omni-directional antenna, four 
remote radio units, and one raycap disconnect, all located at the top of the pole within an 
equipment shroud.  The omni-directional antenna mounted at the top of the pole is a low-
powered pico node which will extend coverage and network capacity to the surrounding 
dense commercial area. The applicant states that the proposed monopole will utilize a 
fully integrated design which includes the radios, disconnect switch and cooling fans 
within the pole, maintaining a sleek profile. The antenna and other equipment on the 
monopole will be textured and painted to match other city poles and street lights. The 
proposed facility will also include equipment cabinets located underground so as to be 
screened from public view. The applicant states that any noise emitted by the installation 
is related to the speed of the internal cooling fans and is well within the level of usual 
noise for the roadside of a heavily trafficked commercial area. The proposed monopole 
will be setback five feet (4’11”) from the face of curb to allow unrestricted pedestrian 
mobility along Marguerite Parkway and in accordance with required ADA clearances. 
AT&T also proposes to install a 12” high concrete retaining curb to maintain a clear 
pedestrian walkway due to a slight upslope to the west of the site and to meet ADA 
clearance requirements. AT&T states that the maintenance of the subject facility is 
minimal. AT&T will be responsible for maintenance of the telecom facility including, but 
not limited to, repairing any missing, discolored or damaged screening and prompt 
removal of graffiti. The proposed plans and photo simulations are included as Attachment 
3 and 4 within this report.

The agent for the project, Matt Levesque of Pramira Inc., states in his letter of 
justification that “small cells” are low-power, low-profile wireless communications 
facilities that improve signal quality and capacity within AT&T’s existing wireless 
network (Attachment 5). He further states that the proposed small cell facility will help 
AT&T provide and improve critical wireless services in the dense commercial area along 
Marguerite Parkway. Specifically, Mr. Levesque states that this proposed small cell 
facility will help improve AT&T’s wireless services by offloading network traffic carried 
by existing macro cell site facilities in the area. In addition, he states that faster data rates 
allow customers to get on and off the network quickly, which produces more efficient use 
of AT&T’s limited spectrum. Furthermore, Mr. Levesque says by placing the small cell 
facility in areas where AT&T’s existing wireless telecommunications facilities are 
constrained, and where AT&T experiences especially high network traffic, AT&T can 
address the existing and forecasted demand, and may support 5G speeds in the future. 
However, the facility currently proposed would utilize 4G technology only, not 5G. Use 
of 5G technology would require separate and additional approval. The propagation plots 
for the subject AT&T facility are included as Attachment 6 of this staff report.

AT &T has identified an initial plan to install two of these small cell facilities, one at the 
subject site and one across Marguerite Parkway located approximately 1,750 feet south of 
the subject site. This second site would also be located on the sidewalk within the public 

Page 2 of 90Item# 5



PDP2019-311
Page 3

right-of-way adjacent to the Conroy’s Flowers store at 28442 Marguerite Parkway. This 
second site has been submitted separately under PDP2019-312. This small cell facility 
will be of the same design (Pico Node) and total height as the subject small cell 
monopole. Overall, AT&T anticipates a total of 15 future small cell sites located within 
the City. Each of these sites would be submitted separately as a Planned Development 
Permit. A map shoving the 15 proposed future sites is included as Attachment 7.

The Federal Telecommunications Act of 1996
Wireless facilities in the U.S. are governed by the Federal Telecommunication Act of 
1996, which was intended to balance the national interest in advanced communications 
infrastructure deployment with the local interest in maintaining authority to protect public 
health, safety and welfare. The industry is also regulated by the Federal Communications 
Commission (FCC) and the California Public Utilities Commission (CPUC), and the City 
is subject to the Telecommunications Act, FCC regulations, and state law and regulations 
that control cell site deployments. Under the Act, the City may not regulate the 
placement, construction or modification of wireless service facilities in a manner that 
prohibits or effectively prohibits the provision of personal wireless services. Although 
recent FCC regulations limit local authority over small wireless facilities, federal law 
does not prohibit a City from reviewing a small cell facility for its aesthetics and location 
under reasonable, nondiscriminatory, objective, and published criteria. Pursuant to the 
California Constitution and Section 7901 of the California Public Utilities Code, carriers 
have a right to construct telecommunications facilities and place poles within the public 
rights-of-way so long as it does not obstruct or disturb the public way (Attachment 8). 

On October 15, 2018, the Federal Communications Commission published a Declaratory 
Ruling and Third Report and Order (WT Docket No. 17-79 and WC Docket 17-84), 
which went into effect January 14, 2019, and imposes certain limits on state and local 
government’s ability to regulate the deployment of small cell telecommunication 
facilities (Attachment 9). The Declaratory Rule and Order limits the type and amount of 
fees the City can collect for private use of public property and limits the City’s ability to 
regulate design aesthetics. The City must review wireless facility applications within a 
reasonable period of time, as defined pursuant to a shot clock (90 day shot clock for 
wireless facilities on new structures). Any decision to deny the application must be 
supported by substantial evidence contained in a written record.

Small Cell Wireless Facility Encroachment Permit
AT&T will be required to obtain from the City an encroachment permit for maintenance 
of each wireless installation located in the City’s right-of-way, for each year (or partial 
year). The Encroachment Permit Fee is per structure and includes all appurtenant 
equipment and facilities used in connection with the wireless facility. The encroachment 
permit for this wireless facility is $1,000 per year. This encroachment permit fee does not 
include any required building permits or encroachment permits required for initial 
installation.

Page 3 of 90Item# 5



PDP2019-311
Page 4

C. Alternate Site Analysis
Prior to filing the subject application with the City of Mission Viejo, the applicant 
considered other potential sites for the location of its wireless telecommunications facility 
(Attachment 10). Based upon network build-out plans and RF propagation analysis the 
applicant ultimately decided upon this site after considering the unique characteristics of 
the other candidates. It is the applicant’s assertion that this location provides the greatest 
likelihood for satisfying the carrier’s needs while minimizing potential detrimental 
impacts to the City.

D. Radio Frequency (RF) Study
A radio frequency (RF) emissions study was prepared and concluded that the RF 
exposure of the wireless facility for the general public is below the required maximum 
established by the Federal Communications Commission (FCC). As demonstrated in the 
study, the general public calculated cumulative RF exposure level at the ground would be 
0.00068% of the maximum allowed, and the nearest second-story elevation of any nearby 
building would be at 0.16% of the maximum allowed, and therefore would not pose a 
safety concern based on FCC standards (Attachment 11).

E. Project Land Use/Zoning Consistency
The City of Mission Viejo General Plan Land Use Policy Map and the City of Mission 
Viejo Development Code and Zoning Map both designate the site as “CH” (Commercial 
Highway). The proposed wireless telecommunications facility is allowed in this zone 
with the approval of a Planned Development Permit.

F. Inter-Departmental Review
The proposed project was reviewed by the City’s Building, Public Services, and Public 
Works Departments. Their conditions of approval, if any, have been incorporated in the 
attached draft resolution of approval. 

G. Design Review
The Commission’s Design Review Committee comprising Commissioners Ruesch and 
Blum reviewed the wireless telecommunication project on January 29, 2020. The 
Applicant presented an overview of the proposed AT&T project and responded to 
Commissioner comments and questions. A copy of the meeting minutes is attached for 
reference (Attachment 14).

H. Environmental Review 
Article 19 "Categorical Exemption" of the California Environmental Quality Act includes 
a list of projects which have been determined not to have a significant effect on the 
environment and which are, therefore, exempt from CEQA.  Staff evaluation of the 
proposed use determined that the project qualifies as a Class 3 exemption for “New 
Construction or Conversion of Small Structures,” pursuant to Section 15303 of the 
CEQA Guidelines.

Page 4 of 90Item# 5



PDP2019-311
Page 5

Page 5 of 90Item# 5



PDP2019-311
Page 6

I. Notice
Notice of this public hearing was sent to all property owners within 300 feet of the 
subject site, placed in the newspaper, and posted as required by state and local law.

Attachments
1. Draft resolution approving PDP2019-311.
2. Vicinity/Aerial Map.
3. Plans marked Exhibit "A".
4. Photo simulations of proposed facility marked Exhibit "B".
5. Applicant’s letter of explanation marked Exhibit "C."
6. Propagation/coverage maps marked Exhibit "D."
7. Map of the 15 potential future sites where AT&T would like to add small cell sites within 

the City.
8. California Public Utilities Code – PUC, Division 4, Chapter 3. Telegraph or Telephone 

Corporations (7901 – 7912) for reference.
9. Federal Communications Commission- Small Entity Compliance Guide - Accelerating 

Wireless Broadband Deployment by Removing Barriers to Infrastructure Investment, WT 
Docket No. 17-79 and WC Docket No. 17-84.

10. Alternative Site Analysis submitted by the applicant.
11. Radio frequency (RF) Study submitted by the applicant.
12. FCC Appendix A Checklist submitted by the applicant.
13. AT&T and Small Cells Design Review Presentation, dated January 29, 2020.
14. Minutes from the January 30, 2020 Design Review Committee meeting.
15. Planning Application and Initial Study submitted by the applicant.

cc: Matt Levesque
Site Acquisition Manager
Pramira Inc.
2552 Walnut Ave, Ste #200
Tustin, CA 92780
(714) 266-5950
matt.levesque@pramira.com

Dan Vosenilek
Area Manager Network Engineering
New Cingular Wireless, PCS, dba AT&T Mobility
1452 Edinger Ave, Third Floor
Tustin, CA 92780
(714) 562-716-4647
dv574p@att.com

Page 6 of 90Item# 5

mailto:matt.levesque@pramira.com
mailto:dv574p@att.com


PDP2019-311
Page 7

Cory Autrey
Vice President, Land Use Entitlements
Wireless Policy Group LLC (AT&T Consultant)
147 W. Route 66, #643, Glendora, CA 91740
626-290-3143
cory.autrey@wirelesspolicy.com

This report was prepared by Tim Martin, Senior Planner: 
Ph. (949) 470-3025 or Email: tmartin@cityofmissionviejo.org 

G:\CD\WP\currentplan\Tim\PDP\PDP2019-311 DRAFT Staff Report.doc

Page 7 of 90Item# 5

mailto:cory.autrey@wirelesspolicy.com
mailto:tmartin@cityofmissionviejo.org


RESOLUTION 2020-XXX

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF MISSION VIEJO PLANNING AND 
TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION APPROVING PLANNED DEVELOPMENT 
PERMIT PDP2019-311, BEING A PETITION SUBMITTED BY PRAMIRA INC., 
AGENT FOR AT&T, TO CONSTRUCT A NEW “SMALL-CELL” WIRELESS 
TELECOMMUNICATION MONOPOLE FACILITY LOCATED WITHIN THE 
PUBLIC RIGHT-OF-WAY ALONG MARGUERITE PARKWAY, ADJACENT 
TO THE U.S. POST OFFICE AT 28081 MARGUERITE PARKWAY, BETWEEN 
SHOPS BOULEVARD TO THE NORTH AND COLLEGE CENTER TO THE 
SOUTH.  EQUIPMENT INSTALLED ON THE NEW 33’-5”-TALL STEEL POLE 
WOULD INCLUDE FOUR REMOTE RADIO UNITS, ONE OMNI-
DIRECTIONAL ANTENNA, AND ONE RAYCAP DISCONNECT, ALL 
LOCATED AT THE TOP OF THE POLE WITHIN AN EQUIPMENT SHROUD.  

WHEREAS, Planned Development Permit PDP2019-311 for the construction of a 
wireless telecommunications facility was filed by Pramira Inc., agent for AT&T, in accordance 
with the provisions of the City of Mission Viejo Municipal Code; and

WHEREAS, Planned Development Permit PDP2019-311 was processed in the time and 
manner prescribed by state and local law; and

WHEREAS, telecommunications facilities can be allowed in any of the City’s zoning 
districts, including the CH (Commercial Highway) zoning district, provided approval of a 
Planned Development Permit is first obtained; and

WHEREAS, in order to grant approval of a Planned Development Permit, the reviewing 
authority, which in this case is the Planning and Transportation Commission, must make all of 
the findings set forth in Section 9.47.030 of Title 9 the Mission Viejo Municipal Code; and

WHEREAS, the Planning and Transportation Commission conducted a noticed public 
hearing on February 10, 2020, at which time interested persons had an opportunity to testify 
either in support of or opposition to the proposal; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE PLANNING AND TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 
OF THE CITY OF MISSION VIEJO DOES HEREBY RESOLVE, DETERMINE AND 
ORDER AS FOLLOWS:

SECTION 1 - FINDINGS
That the Planning and Transportation Commission of the City of Mission Viejo hereby makes 
the following findings:

1. That the proposed wireless telecommunications facility is permitted within the subject 
zoning district and complies with the applicable provisions of the City of Mission Viejo 
Development Code, including prescribed development standards and design guidelines.

Page 8 of 90Item# 5



PDP2019-311
Page 2

2. That the subject site is physically suitable for the type and intensity of the land use being 
proposed. 

3. That the proposed wireless telecommunications facility would be harmonious and 
compatible with existing and future developments within the zoning district and general 
area.

4. That the proposed wireless telecommunications facility is harmonious and compatible 
with the land uses presently on the subject property.

5. That there are adequate provisions for water, sanitation, and public utilities and services 
to ensure that the proposed development is not detrimental to public health and safety.

6. That there is adequate public access to serve the proposed wireless telecommunications 
facility.

7. That the proposed wireless telecommunications facility is consistent with the General 
Plan.

8. That the location, size, design and operating characteristics of the proposed wireless 
telecommunications facility are not detrimental to the public interest, health, safety, 
convenience or welfare of the City.

9. That the approval of the Planned Development Permit for a wireless telecommunications 
facility is in compliance with the requirements of the California Environmental Quality 
Act.

10. That the data and analysis upon which these findings of fact are based are set forth in the 
staff report for Planned Development Permit PDP2019-311, staff's oral presentation, 
public testimony, and Commissioner comments which constituted the Planning and 
Transportation Commission's review of this application.

SECTION 2 - ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW
The Community Development Department staff examined the proposal and determined that the 
unmanned communication facility is categorically exempt from the provisions of the California 
Environmental Quality Act pursuant to Section 15303 “New Construction or Conversion of 
Small Structures” of the CEQA Guidelines.  

SECTION 3 - CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL
That the Planning and Transportation Commission of the City of Mission Viejo hereby approves 
Planned Development Permit PDP2019-311, subject to the following conditions:

Page 9 of 90Item# 5



PDP2019-311
Page 3

1. That this approval constitutes approval of the proposed project only to the extent that the 
project complies with the Mission Viejo Development Code.  Approval does not include 
any action or findings as to compliance or approval of the project regarding any other 
applicable ordinance, regulation or requirement.

2. That this approval is valid for a period of twelve months from the date of final 
determination. If the use approved by this action is not established within such period of 
time, Planned Development Permit PDP2019-311 shall expire unless the applicant 
submits a written request for an extension to the Director of Community Development 
prior to the expiration date; the extension request shall be subject to review and approval 
by the Planning and Transportation Commission.

3. That except as otherwise provided herein, this permit is approved as a precise plan.  After 
any application has been approved, if changes are proposed regarding the location or 
alteration of any use or structure, a changed plan may be submitted to the Director of 
Community Development for approval.  If the Director determines that the proposed 
change complies with the provisions and the spirit and intent of the approval action, and 
that the action would have been the same for the changed plan as for the approved plot 
plan, the Director may approve the changed plan without requiring a new public hearing 
or referral to the Planning and Transportation Commission.

4. That Planned Development Permit PDP2019-311 shall be valid for a period of ten years 
from the date of installation.  Upon request by the City at any time during the term, 
applicant shall provide the City with a certificate of continued compliance with the 
Conditions of Approval. The Permit shall remain valid for the term unless either the 
City’s Director of Community Development or the Planning and Transportation 
Commission finds that there has been a history of well-founded written complaints 
related to the use and that the applicant has violated the Conditions of Approval, or that 
the appearance of the installation has deteriorated in violation of the Conditions of 
Approval.  Any revocation of this approval shall be preceded by public notice and public 
hearing.

5. That except as modified by the terms of this approval, the wireless telecommunications 
facility shall be constructed and maintained by the applicant in substantial conformance 
with the construction plans, photo simulations, and letter of explanation submitted by the 
applicant, and included as Exhibit A, Exhibit B and Exhibit C, and for identification. 

6. That appropriate clearances from the City’s Building, Public Services, and Public Works 
Departments shall be secured prior to establishing the communication facility. The 
proposed project shall require a building permit from the City’s Building Division. The 
proposed project will be subject to conformance with all adopted City codes and 
ordinances and Title 24 access requirements in effect at the time of submittal. The 
proposed work shall be designed by a California registered civil or structural engineer or 

Page 10 of 90Item# 5



PDP2019-311
Page 4

architect. Plans and building permits shall be required for all the proposed work, 
including retaining walls, and any fencing in excess of 6' in height. Structural calculations 
prepared by a California Registered Professional shall be required for the design of the 
unmanned equipment facility and antennas, and shall be reviewed and approved by the 
Building Services Division. Detailed construction plans shall be submitted to the Public 
Works Department to determine whether or not the facility requires a grading permit.

7. That prior to the issuance of a building permit, the applicant shall comply with all 
applicable provisions of the 2019 California Building Code, the 2018 International 
Building Code (IBC), American Society of Civil Engineers (ASCE) standard 7-16 for 
Minimum Design Loads and Associated Criteria for Buildings and Other Structures, 
California Fire Code, and Mission Viejo Municipal Code. In addition, the project must 
provide structural calculations; including providing wind and seismic design criteria.

8. That an encroachment permit from the Public Works Department will be required for 
installation within the public right-of-way.

9. That a minimum of four feet clearance on the sidewalk shall be maintained around any 
structures/devices for the path of travel on the sidewalk.

10. That no separate meter/power pedestal shall be installed. The City will require the use of 
a Wireless Tariff Rate (WTR) to provide electrical power for any equipment.

11. That any equipment associated with this project, excluding the monopole and base must 
be placed in an underground vault.

12. That all concrete placed (i.e. sidewalk) that comes in contact with native soils shall 
contain Type V cement.

13. That if any cuts are made into existing asphalt for the installation of conduit, etc., the 
subject roadway shall be ground down and overlaid from the gutter line to the centerline 
or median of roadway.  All street cuts are subject to the requirements of the City’s Street 
Trench Cut Moratorium.  

14. That any required retaining walls will require a separate Building Permit from the City’s 
Community Development Department.

15. That any damaged landscaping, hardscape, etc. shall be repaired or replaced to the 
satisfaction of the City Engineer.

16. That unenclosed construction operations shall not commence prior to 7:00 a.m. Monday 
through Saturday and shall cease before 8:00 p.m. on those days. There shall be no 
unenclosed construction activities on Sunday or a federal holiday, as celebrated by the 
City of Mission Viejo.  Further, the applicant agrees that preventative maintenance at the 

Page 11 of 90Item# 5



PDP2019-311
Page 5

subject facility shall be permitted only during the hours from 8:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m., 
except under emergency circumstances.

17. That any mitigation measures and/or similar recommendations provided in the project RF 
report, including the posting of explanatory warning signs, shall be implemented by the 
carrier to ensure compliance with Federal Communication Commission (FCC) 
guidelines, with implementation to be field verified by City staff prior to operation of the 
facility.

18. That no off-premises or on-premises signs shall be permitted in conjunction with the 
wireless telecommunications facility, except as required by law, or for RF warning.

19. That all antennas and related equipment shall have a non-corrosive, non-metallic finish 
that is not conducive to reflection or glare. The exact color of all aspects of the facility 
shall be subject to review and approval by the City’s Director of Community 
Development to ensure there is no misunderstanding in this regard prior to the issuance of 
a building permit.

20. That if at any time in the future an exterior stationary noise generating source associated 
with the wireless telecommunications equipment installed at this location causes a 
disturbance to adjoining properties or residential tracts as determined by the Director of 
Community Development, the applicant shall provide additional sound attenuation 
through the use of enclosures or other means, to the satisfaction of the Director of 
Community Development.

21. That the Planning and Transportation Commission reserves the right to terminate this 
approval and cause the antennas to be removed if the use is interfering with electrical 
equipment in the surrounding neighborhood (i.e. television, radio, telephone, computer, 
etc.), in violation of FCC rules and regulations, or if it is causing a health hazard 
according to FCC policies and guidelines, including operative testing.  Any rescission of 
this approval by the Commission shall be preceded by public notice and a public hearing, 
and shall be supported by well documented findings.

22. That the applicant shall provide evidence of: (i) co-operative agreements from other co-
located carriers of any co-operative mitigation measures to be implemented, and (ii) 
mitigation measures that are to be implemented by other workforce parties such as 
property owners/managers who may have employees or contract personnel in the vicinity 
of the proposed antenna(s) have been implemented.

23. If a support structure, or an antenna array affixed to a support structure, becomes 
inoperable or ceases to be used for a period of 6 consecutive months, the permittee must 
give written notice of such inoperability or nonuse to the Director of Community 
Development.  The antenna array and, if applicable, the support structure, must be 

Page 12 of 90Item# 5



PDP2019-311
Page 6

removed within a 90-day period.  If such removal does not occur, the City may remove 
the antenna array and, if applicable, the support structure, at the permittee’s expense; 
provided, however, that if other antenna arrays owned or operated by other service 
providers are affixed to the same support structure, then only the antenna array that has 
become inoperable or has ceased to be used is required to be removed, and the support 
structure may remain in place until all service providers cease to use it.

24. That failure to abide and faithfully comply with any and all conditions of this approving 
action shall constitute grounds for the revocation of said action by the Planning and 
Transportation Commission.

25. That prior to issuance of a building permit, the applicant shall provide the City with the 
name and contact information for the engineering and maintenance departments at AT&T 
responsible for the subject site.  This information shall also be posted at the subject site 
and this condition shall apply to all AT&T facilities within the City of Mission Viejo.  
When contact information changes, the applicant shall update the City of Mission Viejo 
and the sites.

26. That during installation of the small cell wireless facility, or if at any time in the future 
AT&T would like to add fiber at this wireless telecommunications facility, that AT&T 
shall contact and discuss the feasibility of adding additional conduit for City use as part 
of the installation.

27. That AT&T will be required to obtain from the City an encroachment permit for 
maintenance of each wireless installation located in the City’s right-of-way, for each year 
(or partial year). The Encroachment Permit Fee is per structure and includes all 
appurtenant equipment and facilities used in connection with the wireless facility.  The 
encroachment permit for this wireless facility is $1,000 per year. This encroachment 
permit fee does not include any required building permits or encroachment permits 
required for initial installation.

28. That the subject small cell wireless facility will utilize 4G technology only, not 5G. That 
the use of 5G technology would require separate and additional approval.

29. That this approval is contingent upon written acknowledgment from the applicant to the 
effect that they have read, understand, and agree to these conditions of approval. 

Page 13 of 90Item# 5



PDP2019-311
Page 7

PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED THIS 10th DAY OF FEBRUARY, 2020.

Robert Breton, Chairman Elaine Lister, Secretary

Page 14 of 90Item# 5



PDP2019-311
Page 8

PROPERTY OWNER’S/ APPLICANT’S ACKNOWLEDGMENT
I have read, understand, and accept the conditions of approval set forth herein above in this 
resolution of approval for Planned Development Permit PDP2019-311.

____________________                                                                    
Date  Matt Levesque, Pramira Inc. (Agent)  

____________________                                                                    
Date  Officer, AT&T (Applicant)

G:\CD\WP\currentplan\Tim\PDP\PDP201-311 Draft Resolution.doc

Page 15 of 90Item# 5



Page 16 of 90Item# 5



Page 17 of 90Item# 5



Page 18 of 90Item# 5



Page 19 of 90Item# 5



Page 20 of 90Item# 5



Page 21 of 90Item# 5



Page 22 of 90Item# 5



Page 23 of 90Item# 5



Page 24 of 90Item# 5



Page 25 of 90Item# 5



Page 26 of 90Item# 5



Page 27 of 90Item# 5



Page 28 of 90Item# 5



Page 29 of 90Item# 5



Page 30 of 90Item# 5



Page 31 of 90Item# 5



Page 32 of 90Item# 5



Page 33 of 90Item# 5



Page 34 of 90Item# 5



Page 35 of 90Item# 5



Page 36 of 90Item# 5



Page 37 of 90Item# 5



Page 38 of 90Item# 5



Page 39 of 90Item# 5



Page 40 of 90Item# 5



Page 41 of 90Item# 5



Page 42 of 90Item# 5



Page 43 of 90Item# 5



Page 44 of 90Item# 5



Page 45 of 90Item# 5



Page 46 of 90Item# 5



Page 47 of 90Item# 5



Page 48 of 90Item# 5



Page 49 of 90Item# 5



Page 50 of 90Item# 5



Page 51 of 90Item# 5



Page 52 of 90Item# 5



Page 53 of 90Item# 5



Page 54 of 90Item# 5



Page 55 of 90Item# 5



Page 56 of 90Item# 5



Page 57 of 90Item# 5



Page 58 of 90Item# 5



Page 59 of 90Item# 5



Page 60 of 90Item# 5



Page 61 of 90Item# 5



Page 62 of 90Item# 5



Page 63 of 90Item# 5



Page 64 of 90Item# 5



Page 65 of 90Item# 5



Page 66 of 90Item# 5



Page 67 of 90Item# 5



Page 68 of 90Item# 5



Page 69 of 90Item# 5



Page 70 of 90Item# 5



Page 71 of 90Item# 5



Page 72 of 90Item# 5



Page 73 of 90Item# 5



Page 74 of 90Item# 5



Page 75 of 90Item# 5



Page 76 of 90Item# 5



Page 77 of 90Item# 5



Page 78 of 90Item# 5



Page 79 of 90Item# 5



Page 80 of 90Item# 5



Page 81 of 90Item# 5



Page 82 of 90Item# 5



Page 83 of 90Item# 5



Page 84 of 90Item# 5



Page 85 of 90Item# 5



Page 86 of 90Item# 5



Page 87 of 90Item# 5



Page 88 of 90Item# 5



Page 89 of 90Item# 5



Page 90 of 90Item# 5



City of Mission Viejo
    Planning and Transportation Commission Staff Report

Date: January 31, 2020

To: Planning and Transportation Commission

From: Tim Martin, Senior Planner through
Elaine Lister, Director of Community Development

For: Planning and Transportation Commission Meeting of February 10, 2020

Subject: Planned Development Permit PDP2019-312 - Petition submitted by Pramira 
Inc., agent for AT&T, to construct a new “small-cell” wireless 
telecommunication monopole facility located within the public right-of-way 
along Marguerite Parkway, north of Avery Parkway, adjacent to the 
Burlington store at 28452 Marguerite Parkway and Conroy’s Flowers at 
28442 Marguerite Parkway.  Equipment installed on the new 33’-5”-tall steel 
pole would include four remote radio units, one omni-directional antenna, 
and one raycap disconnect, all located at the top of the pole within an 
equipment shroud.

RECOMMENDED ACTION
Adopt resolution approving Planned Development Permit PDP2019-312.

DISCUSSION

A. Site Location
The project site is located within the public right-of-way along Marguerite Parkway on an 
existing sidewalk, adjacent to the Conroy’s Flowers store at 28442 Marguerite Parkway. 
The subject site is located just north of the ingress/egress driveway for Conroy’s Flowers 
and Burlington Coat Factory. The site is bounded by existing commercial uses to the 
north and south, Saddleback College to the east, and commercial and office use to the 
west, across Marguerite Parkway. The subject site is further identified by the following 
coordinates: Latitude: 33.550139, Longitude: -117.670531.  The site is located 
approximately 650 ft north of Avery Center, a retail shopping center located at 28570 
Marguerite Parkway. On January 14th of this year, the City Council approved Zone 
Change ZC2019-22, Conditional Use Permit CUP2019-408, Planned Development 
Permit PDP2019-309, and Variance VAR2019-53 by Confluent Development to 
demolish Avery Center and permit development of an assisted living facility. The 3-story, 
166,000-square-foot facility will have 132 living units with 166 beds. The proposed 
monopole is approximately 615 feet away from the assisted living facility. A vicinity map 
is included as Attachment 2.

Page 1 of 84Item# 6



PDP2019-312
Page 2

  B. Project Description
Planned Development Permit PDP2019-312 is a petition submitted by Pramira Inc., agent 
for AT&T, to construct a new “small-cell” wireless telecommunication monopole facility 
located on the existing sidewalk, immediately adjacent to the Conroy’s Flowers building.  
Equipment installed on the new 33’-5”-tall steel pole would include four remote radio 
units, one omni-directional antenna, and one raycap disconnect, all located at the top of 
the pole within an equipment shroud. More specifically, the proposed slim-line monopole 
has an overall height of 33’5”, and is 12” wide. The omni-directional antenna mounted at 
the top of the pole is a low-powered pico node which will extend coverage and network 
capacity to the surrounding dense commercial area. The applicant states that the proposed 
monopole will utilize a fully integrated design which includes the radios, disconnect 
switch and cooling fans within the pole, maintaining a sleek profile. The antenna and 
other equipment on the monopole will be textured and painted to match other city poles 
and street lights. 

The proposed facility will also include equipment cabinets located underground so as to 
be screened from public view. The applicant states that any noise emitted by the 
installation is related to the speed of the internal cooling fans and is well within the level 
of usual noise for the roadside of a heavily trafficked commercial area. The proposed 
monopole will be setback five feet (5’) from the face of curb to allow unrestricted 
pedestrian mobility along Marguerite Parkway and in accordance with required ADA 
clearances. AT&T also proposes to install a 12” high concrete retaining curb to maintain 
a clear pedestrian walkway due to a slight upslope to the east of the site and to meet ADA 
clearance requirements. AT&T states that the maintenance of the subject facility is 
minimal. AT&T will be responsible for maintenance of the telecom facility including, but 
not limited to, repairing any missing, discolored or damaged screening and prompt 
removal of graffiti. The proposed plans and photo simulations are included as 
Attachments 3 and 4 of this report.

The agent for the project, Matt Levesque of Pramira Inc., states in his letter of 
justification that “small cells” are low-power, low-profile wireless communications 
facilities that improve signal quality and capacity within AT&T’s existing wireless 
network (Attachment 5). He further states that the proposed small cell facility will help 
AT&T provide and improve critical wireless services in the dense commercial area along 
Marguerite Parkway. Specifically, Mr. Levesque states that this proposed small cell 
facility will help improve AT&T’s wireless services by offloading network traffic carried 
by existing macro cell site facilities in the area. In addition, he states that faster data rates 
allow customers to get on and off the network quickly, which produces more efficient use 
of AT&T’s limited spectrum. Furthermore, Mr. Levesque states that by placing the small 
cell facility in areas where AT&T’s existing wireless telecommunications facilities are 
constrained, and where AT&T experiences especially high network traffic, AT&T can 
address the existing and forecasted demand, and may support 5G speeds in the future. 
However, the facility currently proposed would utilize 4G technology only, not 5G. Use 

Page 2 of 84Item# 6



PDP2019-312
Page 3

of 5G technology would require separate and additional approval. The propagation plots 
for the subject AT&T facility are included as Attachment 6 of this staff report.

AT&T has identified an initial plan to install two of these small cell facilities, one at the 
subject site and one across Marguerite Parkway located approximately 1,750 feet north of 
the subject site. This second site would also be located on the sidewalk within the public 
right-of-way adjacent to the U.S. Post Office at 28081 Marguerite Parkway. This second 
site has been submitted separately under PDP2019-311. This small cell facility will be of 
the same design (Pico Node) and total height as the subject small cell monopole. Overall, 
AT&T anticipates a total of 15 future small cell sites located within the City. Each of 
these sites would be submitted separately as a Planned Development Permit application. 
A map showing the 15 proposed future sites is included as Attachment 7.

The Federal Telecommunications Act of 1996
Wireless facilities in the U.S. are governed by the Federal Telecommunication Act of 
1996, which was intended to balance the national interest in advanced communications 
infrastructure deployment with the local interest in maintaining authority to protect public 
health, safety and welfare. The industry is also regulated by the Federal Communications 
Commission (FCC) and the California Public Utilities Commission (CPUC), and the City 
is subject to the Telecommunications Act, FCC regulations, and state law and regulations 
that control cell site deployments. Under the Act, the City may not regulate the 
placement, construction or modification of wireless service facilities in a manner that 
prohibits or effectively prohibits the provision of personal wireless services. Although 
recent FCC regulations limit local authority over small wireless facilities, federal law 
does not prohibit a City from reviewing a small cell facility for its aesthetics and location 
under reasonable, nondiscriminatory, objective, and published criteria. Pursuant to the 
California Constitution and Section 7901 of the California Public Utilities Code, carriers 
have a right to construct telecommunications facilities and place poles within the public 
rights-of-way so long as it does not obstruct or disturb the public way (Attachment 8). 

On October 15, 2018, the Federal Communications Commission published a Declaratory 
Ruling and Third Report and Order (WT Docket No. 17-79 and WC Docket 17-84), 
which went into effect January 14, 2019, and imposes certain limits on state and local 
government’s ability to regulate the deployment of small cell telecommunication 
facilities (Attachment 9). The Declaratory Rule and Order limits the type and amount of 
fees the City can collect for private use of public property and limits the City’s ability to 
regulate design aesthetics. The City must review wireless facility applications within a 
reasonable period of time, as defined pursuant to a shot clock (90 day shot clock for 
wireless facilities on new structures). Any decision to deny the application must be 
supported by substantial evidence contained in a written record.

Small Cell Wireless Facility Encroachment Permit
AT&T will be required to obtain from the City an encroachment permit for maintenance 
of each wireless installation located in the City’s right-of-way, for each year (or partial 

Page 3 of 84Item# 6



PDP2019-312
Page 4

year). The Encroachment Permit Fee is per structure and includes all appurtenant 
equipment and facilities used in connection with the wireless facility. The encroachment 
permit for this wireless facility is $1,000 per year. This encroachment permit fee does not 
include any required building permits or encroachment permits required for initial 
installation.

C. Alternate Site Analysis
Prior to filing the subject application with the City of Mission Viejo, the applicant 
considered other potential sites for the location of its wireless telecommunications facility 
(Attachment 10). Based upon network build-out plans and RF propagation analysis the 
applicant ultimately decided upon this site after considering the unique characteristics of 
the other candidates. It is the applicant’s assertion that this location provides the greatest 
likelihood for satisfying the carrier’s needs while minimizing potential detrimental 
impacts to the City.

D. Radio Frequency (RF) Study
A radio frequency (RF) emissions study was prepared and concluded that the RF 
exposure of the wireless facility for the general public is below the required maximum 
established by the Federal Communications Commission (FCC). As demonstrated in the 
study, the general public calculated cumulative RF exposure level at the ground would be 
0.00087% of the maximum allowed, and the nearest second-story elevation of any nearby 
building would be at 0.24% of the maximum allowed, and therefore would not pose a 
safety concern based on FCC standards (Attachment 11).

E. Project Land Use/Zoning Consistency
The City of Mission Viejo General Plan Land Use Policy Map and the City of Mission 
Viejo Development Code and Zoning Map both designate the site as “CH” (Commercial 
Highway). The proposed wireless telecommunications facility is allowed in this zone 
with the approval of a Planned Development Permit.

F. Inter-Departmental Review
The proposed project was reviewed by the City’s Building, Public Services, and Public 
Works Departments. Their conditions of approval, if any, have been incorporated in the 
attached draft resolution of approval. 

G. Design Review
The Commission’s Design Review Committee comprising Commissioners Ruesch and 
Blum reviewed the wireless telecommunication project on January 29, 2020. The 
Applicant presented an overview of the proposed AT&T project and responded to 
Commissioner comments and questions. A copy of the meeting minutes is attached for 
reference (Attachment 14).

H. Environmental Review 
Article 19 "Categorical Exemption" of the California Environmental Quality Act includes 

Page 4 of 84Item# 6



PDP2019-312
Page 5

a list of projects which have been determined not to have a significant effect on the 
environment and which are, therefore, exempt from CEQA.  Staff evaluation of the 
proposed use determined that the project qualifies as a Class 3 exemption for “New 
Construction or Conversion of Small Structures,” pursuant to Section 15303 of the 
CEQA Guidelines.

I. Notice
Notice of this public hearing was sent to all property owners within 300 feet of the 
subject site, placed in the newspaper, and posted as required by state and local law.

Attachments
1. Draft resolution approving PDP2019-312.
2. Vicinity/Aerial Map.
3. Plans marked Exhibit "A".
4. Photo simulations of proposed facility marked Exhibit "B".
5. Applicant’s letter of explanation marked Exhibit "C."
6. Propagation/coverage maps marked Exhibit "D."
7. Map of the 15 potential future sites where AT&T would like to add small cell sites within 

the City.
8. California Public Utilities Code – PUC, Division 4, Chapter 3. Telegraph or Telephone 

Corporations (7901 – 7912) for reference.
9. Federal Communications Commission- Small Entity Compliance Guide - Accelerating 

Wireless Broadband Deployment by Removing Barriers to Infrastructure Investment, WT 
Docket No. 17-79 and WC Docket No. 17-84.

10. Alternative Site Analysis submitted by the applicant.
11. Radio frequency (RF) Study submitted by the applicant.
12. FCC Appendix A Checklist submitted by the applicant.
13. AT&T and Small Cells Design Review Presentation, dated January 29, 2020.
14. Minutes from the January 30, 2020 Design Review Committee meeting.
15. Planning Application and Initial Study submitted by the applicant.

cc: Matt Levesque
Site Acquisition Manager
Pramira Inc.
2552 Walnut Ave, Ste #200
Tustin, CA 92780
(714) 266-5950
matt.levesque@pramira.com

Page 5 of 84Item# 6

mailto:matt.levesque@pramira.com


PDP2019-312
Page 6

Page 6 of 84Item# 6



PDP2019-312
Page 7

Dan Vosenilek
Area Manager Network Engineering
New Cingular Wireless, PCS, dba AT&T Mobility
1452 Edinger Ave, Third Floor
Tustin, CA 92780
(714) 562-716-4647
dv574p@att.com

Cory Autrey
Vice President, Land Use Entitlements
Wireless Policy Group LLC (AT&T Consultant)
147 W. Route 66, #643, Glendora, CA 91740
626-290-3143
cory.autrey@wirelesspolicy.com

This report was prepared by Tim Martin, Senior Planner: 
Ph. (949) 470-3025 or Email: tmartin@cityofmissionviejo.org 

G:\CD\WP\currentplan\Tim\PDP\PDP2019-312 DRAFT Staff Report.doc

Page 7 of 84Item# 6

mailto:dv574p@att.com
mailto:cory.autrey@wirelesspolicy.com
mailto:tmartin@cityofmissionviejo.org


RESOLUTION 2020-XXX

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF MISSION VIEJO PLANNING AND 
TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION APPROVING PLANNED DEVELOPMENT 
PERMIT PDP2019-312, BEING A PETITION SUBMITTED BY PRAMIRA INC., 
AGENT FOR AT&T, TO CONSTRUCT A NEW “SMALL-CELL” WIRELESS 
TELECOMMUNICATION MONOPOLE FACILITY LOCATED WITHIN THE 
PUBLIC RIGHT-OF-WAY ALONG MARGUERITE PARKWAY, NORTH OF 
AVERY PARKWAY, ADJACENT TO THE BURLINGTON STORE AT 28452 
MARGUERITE PARKWAY AND CONROY’S FLOWERS AT 28442 
MARGUERITE PARKWAY.  EQUIPMENT INSTALLED ON THE NEW 33’-5”-
TALL STEEL POLE WOULD INCLUDE FOUR REMOTE RADIO UNITS, ONE 
OMNI-DIRECTIONAL ANTENNA, AND ONE RAYCAP DISCONNECT, ALL 
LOCATED AT THE TOP OF THE POLE WITHIN AN EQUIPMENT SHROUD.

WHEREAS, Planned Development Permit PDP2019-312 for the construction of a 
wireless telecommunications facility was filed by Pramira Inc., agent for AT&T, in accordance 
with the provisions of the City of Mission Viejo Municipal Code; and

WHEREAS, Planned Development Permit PDP2019-312 was processed in the time and 
manner prescribed by state and local law; and

WHEREAS, telecommunications facilities can be allowed in any of the City’s zoning 
districts, including the CH (Commercial Highway) zoning district, provided approval of a 
Planned Development Permit is first obtained; and

WHEREAS, in order to grant approval of a Planned Development Permit, the reviewing 
authority, which in this case is the Planning and Transportation Commission, must make all of 
the findings set forth in Section 9.47.030 of Title 9 the Mission Viejo Municipal Code; and

WHEREAS, the Planning and Transportation Commission conducted a noticed public 
hearing on February 10, 2020, at which time interested persons had an opportunity to testify 
either in support of or opposition to the proposal; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE PLANNING AND TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 
OF THE CITY OF MISSION VIEJO DOES HEREBY RESOLVE, DETERMINE AND 
ORDER AS FOLLOWS:

SECTION 1 - FINDINGS
That the Planning and Transportation Commission of the City of Mission Viejo hereby makes 
the following findings:

1. That the proposed wireless telecommunications facility is permitted within the subject 
zoning district and complies with the applicable provisions of the City of Mission Viejo 
Development Code, including prescribed development standards and design guidelines.

Page 8 of 84Item# 6



PDP2019-312
Page 2

2. That the subject site is physically suitable for the type and intensity of the land use being 
proposed. 

3. That the proposed wireless telecommunications facility would be harmonious and 
compatible with existing and future developments within the zoning district and general 
area.

4. That the proposed wireless telecommunications facility is harmonious and compatible 
with the land uses presently on the subject property.

5. That there are adequate provisions for water, sanitation, and public utilities and services 
to ensure that the proposed development is not detrimental to public health and safety.

6. That there is adequate public access to serve the proposed wireless telecommunications 
facility.

7. That the proposed wireless telecommunications facility is consistent with the General 
Plan.

8. That the location, size, design and operating characteristics of the proposed wireless 
telecommunications facility are not detrimental to the public interest, health, safety, 
convenience or welfare of the City.

9. That the approval of the Planned Development Permit for a wireless telecommunications 
facility is in compliance with the requirements of the California Environmental Quality 
Act.

10. That the data and analysis upon which these findings of fact are based are set forth in the 
staff report for Planned Development Permit PDP2019-312, staff's oral presentation, 
public testimony, and Commissioner comments which constituted the Planning and 
Transportation Commission's review of this application.

SECTION 2 - ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW
The Community Development Department staff examined the proposal and determined that the 
unmanned communication facility is categorically exempt from the provisions of the California 
Environmental Quality Act pursuant to Section 15303 “New Construction or Conversion of 
Small Structures” of the CEQA Guidelines.  

SECTION 3 - CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL
That the Planning and Transportation Commission of the City of Mission Viejo hereby approves 
Planned Development Permit PDP2019-312, subject to the following conditions:

Page 9 of 84Item# 6



PDP2019-312
Page 3

1. That this approval constitutes approval of the proposed project only to the extent that the 
project complies with the Mission Viejo Development Code.  Approval does not include 
any action or findings as to compliance or approval of the project regarding any other 
applicable ordinance, regulation or requirement.

2. That this approval is valid for a period of twelve months from the date of final 
determination. If the use approved by this action is not established within such period of 
time, Planned Development Permit PDP2019-312 shall expire unless the applicant 
submits a written request for an extension to the Director of Community Development 
prior to the expiration date; the extension request shall be subject to review and approval 
by the Planning and Transportation Commission.

3. That except as otherwise provided herein, this permit is approved as a precise plan.  After 
any application has been approved, if changes are proposed regarding the location or 
alteration of any use or structure, a changed plan may be submitted to the Director of 
Community Development for approval.  If the Director determines that the proposed 
change complies with the provisions and the spirit and intent of the approval action, and 
that the action would have been the same for the changed plan as for the approved plot 
plan, the Director may approve the changed plan without requiring a new public hearing 
or referral to the Planning and Transportation Commission.

4. That Planned Development Permit PDP2019-312 shall be valid for a period of ten years 
from the date of installation.  Upon request by the City at any time during the term, 
applicant shall provide the City with a certificate of continued compliance with the 
Conditions of Approval. The Permit shall remain valid for the term unless either the 
City’s Director of Community Development or the Planning and Transportation 
Commission finds that there has been a history of well-founded written complaints 
related to the use and that the applicant has violated the Conditions of Approval, or that 
the appearance of the installation has deteriorated in violation of the Conditions of 
Approval.  Any revocation of this approval shall be preceded by public notice and public 
hearing.

5. That except as modified by the terms of this approval, the wireless telecommunications 
facility shall be constructed and maintained by the applicant in substantial conformance 
with the construction plans, photo simulations, and letter of explanation submitted by the 
applicant, and included as Exhibit A, Exhibit B and Exhibit C, and for identification. 

6. That appropriate clearances from the City’s Building, Public Services, and Public Works 
Departments shall be secured prior to establishing the communication facility. The 
proposed project shall require a building permit from the City’s Building Division. The 
proposed project will be subject to conformance with all adopted City codes and 
ordinances and Title 24 access requirements in effect at the time of submittal. The 
proposed work shall be designed by a California registered civil or structural engineer or 

Page 10 of 84Item# 6



PDP2019-312
Page 4

architect. Plans and building permits shall be required for all the proposed work, 
including retaining walls, and any fencing in excess of 6' in height. Structural calculations 
prepared by a California Registered Professional shall be required for the design of the 
unmanned equipment facility and antennas, and shall be reviewed and approved by the 
Building Services Division. Detailed construction plans shall be submitted to the Public 
Works Department to determine whether or not the facility requires a grading permit.

7. That prior to the issuance of a building permit, the applicant shall comply with all 
applicable provisions of the 2019 California Building Code, the 2018 International 
Building Code (IBC), American Society of Civil Engineers (ASCE) standard 7-16 for 
Minimum Design Loads and Associated Criteria for Buildings and Other Structures, 
California Fire Code, and Mission Viejo Municipal Code. In addition, the project must 
provide structural calculations; including providing wind and seismic design criteria.

8. That an encroachment permit from the Public Works Department will be required for 
installation within the public right-of-way.

9. That a minimum of four feet clearance on the sidewalk shall be maintained around any 
structures/devices for the path of travel on the sidewalk.

10. That no separate meter/power pedestal shall be installed. The City will require the use of 
a Wireless Tariff Rate (WTR) to provide electrical power for any equipment.

11. That any equipment associated with this project, excluding the monopole and base must 
be placed in an underground vault.

12. That all concrete placed (i.e. sidewalk) that comes in contact with native soils shall 
contain Type V cement.

13. That if any cuts are made into existing asphalt for the installation of conduit, etc., the 
subject roadway shall be ground down and overlaid from the gutter line to the centerline 
or median of roadway.  All street cuts are subject to the requirements of the City’s Street 
Trench Cut Moratorium.  

14. That any required retaining walls will require a separate Building Permit from the City’s 
Community Development Department.

15. That any damaged landscaping, hardscape, etc. shall be repaired or replaced to the 
satisfaction of the City Engineer.

16. That unenclosed construction operations shall not commence prior to 7:00 a.m. Monday 
through Saturday and shall cease before 8:00 p.m. on those days. There shall be no 
unenclosed construction activities on Sunday or a federal holiday, as celebrated by the 
City of Mission Viejo.  Further, the applicant agrees that preventative maintenance at the 

Page 11 of 84Item# 6



PDP2019-312
Page 5

subject facility shall be permitted only during the hours from 8:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m., 
except under emergency circumstances.

17. That any mitigation measures and/or similar recommendations provided in the project RF 
report, including the posting of explanatory warning signs, shall be implemented by the 
carrier to ensure compliance with Federal Communication Commission (FCC) 
guidelines, with implementation to be field verified by City staff prior to operation of the 
facility.

18. That no off-premises or on-premises signs shall be permitted in conjunction with the 
wireless telecommunications facility, except as required by law, or for RF warning.

19. That all antennas and related equipment shall have a non-corrosive, non-metallic finish 
that is not conducive to reflection or glare. The exact color of all aspects of the facility 
shall be subject to review and approval by the City’s Director of Community 
Development to ensure there is no misunderstanding in this regard prior to the issuance of 
a building permit.

20. That if at any time in the future an exterior stationary noise generating source associated 
with the wireless telecommunications equipment installed at this location causes a 
disturbance to adjoining properties or residential tracts as determined by the Director of 
Community Development, the applicant shall provide additional sound attenuation 
through the use of enclosures or other means, to the satisfaction of the Director of 
Community Development.

21. That the Planning and Transportation Commission reserves the right to terminate this 
approval and cause the antennas to be removed if the use is interfering with electrical 
equipment in the surrounding neighborhood (i.e. television, radio, telephone, computer, 
etc.), in violation of FCC rules and regulations, or if it is causing a health hazard 
according to FCC policies and guidelines, including operative testing.  Any rescission of 
this approval by the Commission shall be preceded by public notice and a public hearing, 
and shall be supported by well documented findings.

22. That the applicant shall provide evidence of: (i) co-operative agreements from other co-
located carriers of any co-operative mitigation measures to be implemented, and (ii) 
mitigation measures that are to be implemented by other workforce parties such as 
property owners/managers who may have employees or contract personnel in the vicinity 
of the proposed antenna(s) have been implemented.

23. If a support structure, or an antenna array affixed to a support structure, becomes 
inoperable or ceases to be used for a period of 6 consecutive months, the permittee must 
give written notice of such inoperability or nonuse to the Director of Community 
Development.  The antenna array and, if applicable, the support structure, must be 

Page 12 of 84Item# 6



PDP2019-312
Page 6

removed within a 90-day period.  If such removal does not occur, the City may remove 
the antenna array and, if applicable, the support structure, at the permittee’s expense; 
provided, however, that if other antenna arrays owned or operated by other service 
providers are affixed to the same support structure, then only the antenna array that has 
become inoperable or has ceased to be used is required to be removed, and the support 
structure may remain in place until all service providers cease to use it.

24. That failure to abide and faithfully comply with any and all conditions of this approving 
action shall constitute grounds for the revocation of said action by the Planning and 
Transportation Commission.

25. That prior to issuance of a building permit, the applicant shall provide the City with the 
name and contact information for the engineering and maintenance departments at AT&T 
responsible for the subject site.  This information shall also be posted at the subject site 
and this condition shall apply to all AT&T facilities within the City of Mission Viejo.  
When contact information changes, the applicant shall update the City of Mission Viejo 
and the sites.

26. That during installation of the small cell wireless facility, or if at any time in the future 
AT&T would like to add fiber at this wireless telecommunications facility, that AT&T 
shall contact and discuss the feasibility of adding additional conduit for City use as part 
of the installation.

27. That AT&T will be required to obtain from the City an encroachment permit for 
maintenance of each wireless installation located in the City’s right-of-way, for each year 
(or partial year). The Encroachment Permit Fee is per structure and includes all 
appurtenant equipment and facilities used in connection with the wireless facility.  The 
encroachment permit for this wireless facility is $1,000 per year. This encroachment 
permit fee does not include any required building permits or encroachment permits 
required for initial installation.

28. That the subject small cell wireless facility will utilize 4G technology only, not 5G. That 
the use of 5G technology would require separate and additional approval.

29. That this approval is contingent upon written acknowledgment from the applicant to the 
effect that they have read, understand, and agree to these conditions of approval. 

Page 13 of 84Item# 6



PDP2019-312
Page 7

PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED THIS 10th DAY OF FEBRUARY, 2020.

Robert Breton, Chairman Elaine Lister, Secretary

Page 14 of 84Item# 6



PDP2019-312
Page 8

PROPERTY OWNER’S/ APPLICANT’S ACKNOWLEDGMENT
I have read, understand, and accept the conditions of approval set forth herein above in this 
resolution of approval for Planned Development Permit PDP2019-312.

____________________                                                                    
Date  Matt Levesque, Pramira Inc. (Agent)  

____________________                                                                    
Date  Officer, AT&T (Applicant)

G:\CD\WP\currentplan\Tim\PDP\PDP201-312 Draft Resolution.doc

Page 15 of 84Item# 6



Page 16 of 84Item# 6



Page 17 of 84Item# 6



Page 18 of 84Item# 6



Page 19 of 84Item# 6



Page 20 of 84Item# 6



Page 21 of 84Item# 6



Page 22 of 84Item# 6



Page 23 of 84Item# 6



Page 24 of 84Item# 6



Page 25 of 84Item# 6



Page 26 of 84Item# 6



Page 27 of 84Item# 6



Page 28 of 84Item# 6



Page 29 of 84Item# 6



Page 30 of 84Item# 6



Page 31 of 84Item# 6



Page 32 of 84Item# 6



Page 33 of 84Item# 6



Page 34 of 84Item# 6



Page 35 of 84Item# 6



Page 36 of 84Item# 6



Page 37 of 84Item# 6



Page 38 of 84Item# 6



Page 39 of 84Item# 6



Page 40 of 84Item# 6



Page 41 of 84Item# 6



Page 42 of 84Item# 6



Page 43 of 84Item# 6



Page 44 of 84Item# 6



Page 45 of 84Item# 6



Page 46 of 84Item# 6



Page 47 of 84Item# 6



Page 48 of 84Item# 6



Page 49 of 84Item# 6



Page 50 of 84Item# 6



Page 51 of 84Item# 6



Page 52 of 84Item# 6



Page 53 of 84Item# 6



Page 54 of 84Item# 6



Page 55 of 84Item# 6



Page 56 of 84Item# 6



Page 57 of 84Item# 6



Page 58 of 84Item# 6



Page 59 of 84Item# 6



Page 60 of 84Item# 6



Page 61 of 84Item# 6



Page 62 of 84Item# 6



Page 63 of 84Item# 6



Page 64 of 84Item# 6



Page 65 of 84Item# 6



Page 66 of 84Item# 6



Page 67 of 84Item# 6



Page 68 of 84Item# 6



Page 69 of 84Item# 6



Page 70 of 84Item# 6



Page 71 of 84Item# 6



Page 72 of 84Item# 6



Page 73 of 84Item# 6



Page 74 of 84Item# 6



Page 75 of 84Item# 6



Page 76 of 84Item# 6



Page 77 of 84Item# 6



Page 78 of 84Item# 6



Page 79 of 84Item# 6



Page 80 of 84Item# 6



Page 81 of 84Item# 6



Page 82 of 84Item# 6



Page 83 of 84Item# 6



Page 84 of 84Item# 6


	Agenda
	1 - January 10, 2020, Minutes
	2 - Status Report Planning and Transportation Commission Matters
	3 - Conditional Use Permit CUP2019-409, being a petition submitted by Gabriel Ruiz to permit a State Department of Alcoholic Beverage Control (ABC) Type 41 beer and wine license, for on-site consumption in conjunction with food service at a new restauran
	4 - Conditional Use Permit CUP2019-406, being a petition submitted by Feiyan You to permit operation of a new 1,400-square-foot massage establishment located in the Alicia Trabuco shopping center, at 26821 Trabuco Road, Suite C, in the CN (Commercial Nei
	5 - Planned Development Permit PDP2019-311, being a petition submitted by Pramira Inc., agent for AT&T, to construct a new “small-cell” wireless telecommunication monopole facility located within the public right-of-way along Marguerite Parkway, adjacent
	6 - Planned Development Permit PDP2019-312, being a petition submitted by Pramira Inc., agent for AT&T, to construct a new “small-cell” wireless telecommunication monopole facility located within the public right-of-way along Marguerite Parkway, north of

